

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Leadership Strategies for Modeling Ethical Behavior in the Real **Estate Industry**

Lakecia Ann Reddrick Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons, and the Ethics and Political Philosophy Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Lakecia Ann Reddrick

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Olivia Herriford, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Deborah Nattress, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost

Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University

2023

Abstract

Leadership Strategies for Modeling Ethical Behavior in the Real Estate Industry

by

Lakecia Ann Reddrick

MS, Walden University, 2017

BS, Kaplan University, 2012

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

Real estate brokers face challenges in cultivating and supporting the ethical conduct of their agents. Developing ethical behavior and decision-making is crucial as it directly impacts the trust, satisfaction, and protection of clients, buyers, sellers, and other stakeholders in the real estate industry. Grounded in the theories of emotional intelligence and servant leadership, this qualitative multiple-case study aimed to explore strategies real estate brokers used in modeling ethical behavior and decision-making for their agents to influence performance and profitability positively. The participants were nine real estate brokers who modeled the ethical behavior and decision-making their agents must practice to impact performance and profitability positively. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and a review of organizational documents. Through thematic analysis, four themes emerged: (a) mentor-mentee relationship, (b) leadership communication, (c) leadership support, and (d) use of technology as a tool. Key recommendations for real estate brokers are to communicate clear expectations for ethical behavior to their agents and create an environment that encourages open dialogue. The implications for positive social change include the potential for real estate brokerage firms to drive community development, increase transactions that contribute to local tax revenue, and support local charities within the community.

Leadership Strategies for Modeling Ethical Behavior in the Real Estate Industry

by

Lakecia Ann Reddrick

MS, Walden University, 2017

BS, Kaplan University, 2012

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2023

Dedication

To my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, through whom all things are possible, I express my deepest love and gratitude. I am grateful to my son, DeVahn V. Reddrick, for his love, unwavering belief in my abilities, and constant encouragement. To my parents, Deborah A. Gibson and Provine C. Reddrick, Sr., especially, I want to express my deepest gratitude and love for your immense impact on my life. During your time of marriage, without your watchful eyes, protection, love, support, and sacrifices, I would not be where I am today. Thank you, Mom, for showing me a good example of strength and perseverance in my life while I was young. I am forever grateful for your love, sacrifices, and unwavering belief in me.

To my beloved biological and spiritual family, your unwavering love, prayers, patience, and support have been instrumental in my academic journey. Your presence, encouragement, and insightful discussions have brought immense meaning and joy to this pursuit. I am grateful for your unwavering belief in me, which has been a driving force in overcoming challenges and achieving my goals.

Last, I dedicate this work to everyone who participated in this study, generously sharing their time, experiences, and perspectives. Your contributions have enriched this research and have the potential to bring about positive change in the field.

Acknowledgments

I thank my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for helping me throughout this journey.

I sincerely appreciate my chair, Dr. Olivia Herriford, for her invaluable guidance, expertise, and mentorship throughout this research endeavor. Your dedication and commitment to my growth as a scholar have shaped me into the researcher I am today. I would also like to thank my second committee member, Dr. Deborah Nattress, for her kindness, thoroughness, and flexibility in working with me during tight deadlines. Both of your support has been instrumental in my success. Last but not least, I am deeply grateful to Dr. Judy Blando for her invaluable contributions. Her insights and expertise significantly enriched this research endeavor.

Thank you to my family and friends for many years of encouragement, support, love, and kind memories. I sincerely thank and acknowledge two extraordinary ladies who have been here before and during my decision to pursue my doctoral journey.

Monica R. Boyd and Molly A. Millard, I sincerely thank both of you for your support and patience with me during this journey. Thank you for the laughter when I felt frustrated. You are more family than friends, and you are appreciated.

Finally, I acknowledge the academic community, research participants, and all those who have contributed to advancing knowledge in the real estate field. Your collective efforts and contributions pave the way for progress and excellence in the industry.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem and Purpose	2
Population and Sampling	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	10
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Application to Applied Business Problem	13
Servant Leadership and Emotional Intelligence	14

Transformational Leadership	19
Transactional Leadership	20
Comparison of the Different Leadership Styles	21
Ethical Leadership	22
Emotional Intelligence	23
Motivation Theories	30
Elements of Principal-agent Relationships	35
Agency Theory as Applied to Real Estate Industry	36
Agency Theory Impact on Workplace Motivation	38
Performance and Profitability in Businesses	40
Ethics and Decision-Making in the Real Estate Industry	41
Impact of Real Estate Agents Reputation on Performance	43
Implementing Change in the Real Estate Industry	44
Transition	47
Section 2: The Project	48
Purpose Statement	48
Role of the Researcher	48
Participants	50
Research Method and Design	51
Research Method	51
Research Design	53

Population and Sampling	54
Ethical Research	56
Data Collection Instruments	58
Data Collection Technique	60
Data Organization Technique	61
Data Analysis	62
Reliability and Validity	65
Reliability	65
Validity	65
Transition and Summary	68
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	69
Introduction	69
Presentation of the Findings	69
Theme 1: Mentor-Mentee Relationship	70
Theme 2: Leadership Communication	76
Theme 3: Leadership Support	81
Theme 4: Use of Technology as a Tool	89
Application to Professional Practice	94
Implications for Social Change	96
Recommendation for Action	97
Recommendation for Further Research	100

Reflections	101
Conclusion	103
References	104
Appendix A: Email Invitation	148
Appendix B: Consent Form	150
Appendix C: Interview Protocol	153
Appendix D: Interview Questions	156

List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency of Themes Men	ntioned by Participants	70
racie it requested of rinesines with	itioned by I differpulled in the control of the con	

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In Section 1, I provide a summary of the business problem and methods I used to explore the leadership strategies successful real estate brokers use to model ethical behavior for their real estate agents to increase performance and profitability. The composite conceptual framework for the study consists of servant leadership and emotional intelligence. A comprehensive literature review expands upon the conceptual framework and includes an analysis and synthesis of existing research related to the business problem.

Background of the Problem

This study emphasizes the importance of integrity in the real estate industry and its connection to higher performance and profitability. The level of unethical behavior during the real estate market boom was evident from the 2008 bubble burst (Shoen, 2017). For instance, many banks and brokers lent money to borrowers without regard for their ability to repay (Randall et al., 2020; Thakor, 2015). Borrowers were encouraged to purchase homes with no or little down payment, which meant higher risks and default rates later (Randall et al., 2020; Thakor, 2015). In an era of social media influence and technological dependencies, real estate agents and brokers will want to cultivate and maintain an ethical relationship with their clients.

Since the housing market decline, there is a demand for better understanding of the factors that contribute to leadership's unethical and ethical decision making (Ferrell et al., 2021). The banking industry may have been the catalyst for the financial crisis, but

there are others who shared that responsibility. The real estate sector includes brokers, real estate agents, surveyors, appraisers, title companies, and attorneys all responsible for a part of property transactions. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 was enacted in response to unethical conduct that involved leadership at Enron, WorldCom, and other companies (Amir et al., 2019). For example, this regulation act protects the investors and consumers during financial transactions by requiring management transparency and stringent reporting requirements.

Real estate brokers (i.e., leaders) are responsible for overseeing the work duties of their real estate agents. The leadership style of real estate brokers can assist to determine the expected quality of performance that real estate agents provide to the public. Effective leadership skills can help to cultivate a work environment of trust and positivity that can increase performance and, therefore, profitability within the real estate industry (Sayyadi, 2019).

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem was that some real estate brokers lack strategies for modeling the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability (Piazolo & Förster, 2019). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to identify the strategies real estate brokers use to model the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability. The targeted population was real estate industry leaders, specifically brokers of three real estate

brokerage firms in the D.C. Metropolitan area (Maryland, D.C., and Virginia) who have led teams of successful, reputable real estate agents for at least 5 years.

Population and Sampling

The population for this study was leaders of real estate brokerage firms. I used purposive sampling to select research study participants for a sample size of nine real estate brokerage leaders in the District of Columbia, Maryland, and Virginia metropolitan areas. The nine participants led teams of successful, reputable real estate agents with a minimum of 5 years of work experience as licensed brokers to meet the study's eligibility requirements. I recruited potential research participants from the National Association of Realtors member directory. Data sources for the study were semistructured interviews of participants and additional sources such as customer reviews, company blogs, social media channels, and organizational documents requested from participants.

Nature of the Study

A researcher selects one of three types of methods for a study: qualitative, quantitative, or mixed (Saunders et al., 2015). Qualitative research is primarily exploratory and provides an understanding of the subject's underlying reasons and motivations of how things work (Park & Park, 2016). Qualitative inquiry is useful when looking for descriptive information and filling gaps in knowledge (Park & Park, 2016). For these reasons, the qualitative method was most appropriate for the study. Researchers use quantitative research to examine variables characteristics and relationships with numerical data through developing test statistics (Saunders et al., 2015). Since there are

no specified variables or hypothesized relationships in this study, quantitative research was not appropriate for the study. The mixed method is the integration of qualitative and quantitative research to analyze, merge, and connect qualitative and quantitative data (Guetterman & Fetters, 2018). The advantage of using the qualitative method for my study was to enable focusing on the *what, how*, and *why* of the strategies and derivative processes the organization developed, which is not the focus of either quantitative or mixed methods.

A researcher can choose between several qualitative design approaches, including case study, phenomenology, ethnography, or narrative (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The qualitative multiple case study was the design chosen for this study. When using a multiple case design, the cases studied depend on the research question and the reason for conducting the study (Guetterman & Fetters, 2018). Multiple case study requires the collection of multiple types of data from more than one source, which enables the researcher to obtain and understand why some participants interpret the same event differently (Mills et al., 2017).

Using a multiple case study design allows the researcher to compare the strategies some different real estate brokers use to affect the ethical behavior and decision-making of their real estate agents within their environments. Another type of design for qualitative research is ethnography, which focuses on populations' cultural patterns as opposed to individuals or groups (Dodgson, 2017). I chose not to explore the patterns of the population in this study; therefore, ethnography was not an appropriate design choice.

The phenomenology designs centers on the personal meanings of the research participants' lived experience (Webb & Welsh, 2019). Narrative design provides insights into human complexity from both social and personal lived experiences through participants' personal stories (Gertsen & Soderberg, 2011). Since I did not focus on the research problem from a strategic, rather than a lived experience perspective, neither the narrative or phenomenology design was appropriate for the study.

Research Question

What strategies do real estate brokers use to model the ethical behavior and decision making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability?

Interview Questions

- 1. What are some examples of the strategies you use to model ethical behavior for real estate agents?
- 2. What, if anything, have you changed about how you model ethical behavior and decision making to positively influence your real estate agents' performance?
- 3. How have you demonstrated ethical decision-making in your interactions with real estate agents?
- 4. What are some examples of how your demonstration of ethical decision making in your interactions with your agents has influenced their actions?

- 5. How, if at all, have changes in industry reputation influenced the leadership strategies you have used and, based upon your observations, the corresponding agents' performance?
- 6. Based upon your experiences, and organization's performance, how have the strategies you applied for modeling ethical behavior helped to increase profitability?
- 7. What additional information can you share about your strategies for modeling ethical behavior and decision making to influence the ethical behavior and decision making of your agents that we have not discussed during this interview?

Conceptual Framework

Servant leadership and emotional intelligence were the composite conceptual frameworks chosen for the study. Greenleaf introduced the term "servant leadership" in the early 1970s (Spears, 1996). A servant leader is one who chooses first to serve, and as an outpouring of that desire, aspires to lead others (Heyler & Martin, 2018). Greenleaf did not produce the behavioral framework for servant leadership. Other leadership studies such as Russell and Stone's (2002) review found vision, honesty, integrity, trust, service of others, appreciation of others, pioneering, and modeling as attributes of a servant leader (Parris & Peachey, 2013). These attributes comprise a framework of personal values and characteristics applied by servant leaders in a business.

Emotional intelligence (EI) is a strong antecedent to the attributes of servant leaders and their ideology (Barbuto et al., 2014). Daniel Goleman (2004) popularized the theory of emotional intelligence (EI) in 1995 by being the first to apply it to the business arena. Emotional intelligence refers to how well we handle ourselves and our emotions in relationships (Goleman, 2004). EI has the following four constructs: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, and relationship management (Goleman, 2004). EI is expected to be a fitting theory for the servant leader framework in this study for providing a practical model real estate brokers can use to positively influence the performance of their real estate agents. The composite conceptual frameworks of servant leadership and emotional intelligence will assist me in understanding the successful strategies used by brokers because together the concepts describe the moral, ethical, and leadership qualities of positive change within business. A real estate broker with a servant leadership style may be more likely to care about empowering and enabling his or her agents than abusing the power that comes with a position of authority.

Operational Definitions

Emotional intelligence: The ability to manage one's emotions and empathize with others' emotions to positively influence behavior in relationships (Băeşu, 2018).

Servant leader: A leadership role that places emphasis on assisting others first in their personal development to build trust and accomplish organizational goals (van Dierendonck, 2011).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are aspects within a study the researcher considers as plausible but lack evidence and cannot be validated (Wargo, 2015). An assumption in this study was the participants will answer the interview questions honestly. A second assumption was most leaders (i.e., brokers) in the real estate industry have some familiarity with emotional intelligence and its influence on business leader performance. Another assumption was that brokers have regular interactions with their agents to positively influence their behavior. The assumption that participants would answer the interview questions honestly was supported, while the assumption that most leaders in the real estate industry have some familiarity with emotional intelligence and its influence on business leader performance was disproven. The assumption suggesting regular interactions between brokers and their agents to positively influence agent behavior was validated.

Limitations

Limitations in a research study are the possible weaknesses within the study that are not in the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Research studies have limitations (i.e., weaknesses) that limit the availability of resources, or the type of methodology used (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). A limitation of this study was some brokers may not have the regular interactions with their agents necessary to be a positive influence on their behavior. Another limitation may be the broker's lack of formal

training during the span of their career to learn leadership strategies to assist them in positively influencing their agents' behavior. The limitation regarding the potential lack of regular interactions between brokers and their agents, which are necessary for a positive influence on agent behavior, was confirmed. The limitation on brokers' potential lack of formal training throughout their careers to acquire leadership strategies for effectively influencing their agents' behavior was also confirmed.

Delimitations

Delimitations refer to deliberately set boundaries by the researcher to support and accomplish the study's objectives (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). This study did not seek to address the measure of personal traits a leader may possess. Doing so would require a quantitative analysis, which is not the research method chosen for this study. The only participants interviewed were the real estate brokers. Agents and other real estate professionals such as appraisers, lenders, or title insurance agents were mentioned, but fell outside the scope of this study's focus.

Significance of the Study

The findings of this study may provide real estate brokers with approaches to modeling agent behaviors that get results and enhance business reputation. A good leader will adapt his or her behavior to a follower's needs, personality, and abilities to effectively promote productivity towards organizational goals (Băeşu, 2018). The level of performance in an organization depends significantly on the leader's capacity to catalyze and channel emotions in a positive or negative direction (Issah, 2018).

Contribution to Business Practice

Real estate brokers are responsible for overseeing the sales and purchases negotiated by their agents for residential and commercial business transactions. The brokers and their agents can benefit from strategies to improve the quality and performance of the services provided to clients. These services include property listings, contract negotiations, determining market values, and other things that require a high level of client trust. Leaders influence followers' behavior, and poor leadership can lead to low morale, confusion, and a culture of mediocracy (Moore et al., 2019). Agents must perceive their brokers as good leaders to accept and follow their example (Panait & Bucinschi, 2018). The study findings may help brokers improve business practices by illustrating how modeling behaviors that increase trust between real estate agents and clients can result in higher agent and broker performance.

Implications for Social Change

The potential contribution of the study's findings to positive change may result in improved broker performance, increased commissions, and increased tax revenues that enable funding state and federal health programs that support citizens in need. The findings may increase the public's trust of real estate agents and brokers through improved industry leadership vs. regulatory interventions (Lee, 2012). Higher quality of services provided by real estate agents and brokers may grow public confidence in the use of local agents, increasing the potential for them to give back to the community. For example, increased trust and business may provide local agents with more relational and

financial opportunities to sponsor and support the causes and initiatives of communitybased organizations.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this literature review is to expand upon the study's conceptual framework, a composite of servant leadership theory and emotional intelligence (EQ), and its applicability to ethical leadership in the real estate industry. The ability of an effective leader in the workplace to inspire and motivate employees to act is critical to the profitability of the organization. Goleman (2013) argued research has shown that various EQ components combined with various leadership styles result in a work environment that is both unique and positive. Data analysis of the 2018 U.S. Office of Personnel Management survey indicates that EQ correlates to various leadership models, and that leaders can enhance their effectiveness by developing their emotional intelligence skills (OPM, 2018). For example, Ed Bastien, CEO of Delta Airlines, demonstrated servant leadership when he announced he would take a 100% pay reduction for six months during the COVID-19 crisis (Fuhrmeister, 2020). A successful workplace leader combines equal parts serving and leading.

The financial crisis of 2007-2008 caused residential real estate brokerage firms to take a closer look at their leadership and sales strategies to mitigate negative influences on performance and profitability of real estate agents (Ngene et al., 2016; Piazolo & Förster, 2019). In the real estate industry, a managing broker who supervises real estate agents may not be aware of his or her style of leadership. Leadership styles within the

workplace are essential, and the leader's type will determine the strategy used to model ethical behavior to positively influence real estate agents in the workplace. The broker's motivation for ensuring his or her real estate agent's success is to increase sales, growth, reputation, profits, and revenues.

The literature review is organized into themes, which include servant leadership and emotional intelligence, servant leadership, character of the servant leader, transformational leader compared to servant leader, transactional leadership, comparison of the different leadership styles, ethical leadership, emotional intelligence, emotional intelligence competencies, emotional intelligence in the workplace, the dark side of emotional intelligence, motivation theories, Maslow's motivational theory, self-determination theory, motivation in the workplace, agency theory on workplace motivation. The next section discusses topics of the research study that pertain to the phenomenon which are influence of agency theory within the real estate industry, agency theory as applied to the real estate industry, performance and profitability of businesses, ethics in the real estate industry, and impact of real estate agents' reputation on performance.

The use of existing and relevant research presented from scholarly journals, empirical and theoretical research, and books is to emphasize the issue of real estate brokers and their agent's reputation through the lens of leadership, which can positively or negatively influence the industry's performance and profitability. The literature review is meant to assist the researcher in providing a way to highlight his or her own voice and

vision for the research project to add to the existing scholarly discourse in the field (Harris, 2020). ProQuest, Walden library database, Google Scholar, and a plethora of other resources were searched to gather relevant articles and books. Keywords and phrases for the searches included (a) real estate industry and trust, (b) reputation and performance in the real estate industry, (c) homebuyers use of the internet, (d) customer relationship, real estate, and reputation, € emotional intelligence and servant leadership, (f) emotional intelligence and leadership in business, (g) leadership measurement, (h) trust attitude and customer loyalty, (is) real estate brokerage industry and sales ethics, (j) emotional intelligence and servant leadership style, (k) leadership and leadership styles, (l) emotional intelligence as an antecedent of servant leadership, (m) agency theory and independent contractor, and (n) principal-agent theory. The majority of the 282 references are from 2018-2023, (81%) are peer-reviewed sources, (9%) seminal scholarly books, and (7%) government websites, and (3%) are references dated before 2018.

Application to Applied Business Problem

The business phenomenon of this study is that the reputation of real estate industry professionals can negatively affect the industry's performance and profitability. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore the strategies real estate brokers use to model the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability. This literature review is an exploration and analysis of existent research related to how business leaders apply the characteristics of servant leadership and emotional intelligence to model ethical

behaviors. The review includes an evaluation and comparison of three distinct types of leadership theories that scholars researched to explore the best leadership strategies for modeling ethical behavior. The following section is a thorough analysis of the servant leader, transformational leader, transactional leader, and emotional intelligence and its competencies in support of the theories.

Servant Leadership and Emotional Intelligence

Goleman (2013) found that the most effective leaders are alike in one crucial way: they all have a high degree of what has come to be known as emotional intelligence (p. 2). Servant leadership and emotional intelligence share characteristics that complement one another and are factors of high employee performance and job satisfaction (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018), which positively influences organizational profitability. Emotional intelligence has been identified as both theoretically and practically relevant to servant leadership (Barbuto et al., 2014).

Servant Leadership

Servant leadership is one of several styles of leadership applied across the private and public sectors of the economy, such as law, banking, healthcare, insurance, and real estate. Although research on the servant leadership style is not plenteous, Greenleaf (1979) introduced the importance of servant leadership and started the process of operationalizing its use in modern organizations. The servant leader dates back as far as 2000 years ago, with the most popular of examples being Jesus Christ in Christianity to the teachings of Confucius (Gandolfi et al., 2017; Murari & Mukherjee, 2021). Servant

leadership encourages trust, collaboration, empowerment, and ethical behavior to facilitate positive change in any environment (Heyler & Martin, 2018). Greenleaf described a servant leader as one with at least 10 characteristics that the leader uses to build community by committing to the growth of individuals. The ten characteristics are (a) listening, (b) awareness, (c) empathy, (d) persuasion, (e) conceptualization, (f) healing, (g) foresight, (h) stewardship, (i) commitment to the growth of people, and (j) building community.

The first of the 10 characteristics of a servant leader is listening. Often leaders missing this characteristic are more focused on communicating their vision than recognizing the challenges and needs of their followers tasked with achieving the organizational objective (Heyler & Martin, 2018). The ability of the servant leader to practice active listening promotes the building of trusting relationships through meaningful discussions and reflections (Black & La Venture, 2018; Dryburgh, 2020). Awareness and empathy are the next two qualities demonstrated by the servant leader. For example, the brokers in the real estate industry having awareness of their agents' weaknesses and strengths allows them to address any issues that may be a hindrance to sales performance. A person who understands the thought process of others and shares their feelings is an empathetic leader (Connors, 2020). A servant leader must also possess the confidence and ability to persuade others, which is the skill of convincing their followers to partner with their ideas, the fourth characteristic. The followers will typically

accept the idea as their own because they believe the leader's thinking is the best approach to accomplish the goal (Heyler & Martin, 2018).

The fifth characteristic is a leader with the potential to develop a vision from which they share with others to create an objective their followers can understand and become excited about (Greenleaf, 1979). Some may think healing, the sixth characteristic, has nothing to do with being a leader. Servant leaders recognize the cause behind handicaps amongst their followers and obstructions to meeting objectives as an opportunity to institute healing (Song, 2018). These types of observations in business are vital to implement organizational change and accomplish goals (Greenleaf, 1979). The seventh characteristic is the ability of leadership to have foresight in any situation, which serves as preparation for future challenges (Heyler & Martin, 2018). The more skilled leaders are in understanding the current situation and effectively predicting future outcomes, the more they can adapt and prepare for future obstacles.

Stewardship and commitment to the growth of others are two other qualities a servant leader possesses. Servant leaders assist their followers in these areas by encouraging them to expand upon positive attributes, while eradicating negative ones to mature and become accountable for their actions (Gandolfi & Stone, 2018). The last characteristic is the servant leader's primary focus of serving others to assist in their growth while building a community of long-lasting relationships (Greenleaf, 1979). For this study, it is the building of a business community.

The term *servant* is interpreted as a negative connotation due to negative feelings or emotions associated with the word (Heyler & Martin, 2018). The word servant used in the context of leadership has enabled researchers to discover as many as 44 positive characteristics of the servant leader (Heyler & Martin, 2018). The characteristics of the servant leader's behavior can be summarized into six attributes (Heyler & Martin, 2018; van Dierendonck, 2011). Although Greenleaf suggested 10 characteristics of servant leaders upon a review by van Dierendonck proposed the characteristics can be condensed to six of the main servant-leader behaviors (Heyler & Martin, 2018). The first attribute of a servant leader is his or her example of humility. The humble leader provides followers with an example of a healthy balance between the desire to serve others without indulging in self-depreciation. The ability to lead and serve simultaneously is not an oxymoron as some may believe, but an advantage. For example, the focus of a servant leader on his or her followers' needs within a business setting aids in further development and accountability as a team to accomplish organizational objectives. Servant leadership theorists have deduced numerous servant leader characteristics such as humility, and the remaining five attributes of authenticity, interpersonal acceptance, providing direction, and stewardship, which overlap in many present-day depictions (Hurt & Heath, 2017).

Character of the Servant Leader

Servant leaders share a common decision, they chose to lead because it provides them with the opportunity to serve (Sun & Shang, 2019). A basic understanding of what it means to have character comes from the traits exhibited by others. Martin Luther King,

Jr. is one example of a servant leader. Martin Luther King, Jr., a civil rights activist, used his influence as a Baptist minister to persuade others to embrace his vision of equality (Dela Cruz, 2020). King's focus may have been on the Black community, but he was aware that to realize positive change, unity of all races and ethnicities in America was essential (Dela Cruz, 2020). Further, the servant as leader is revealed in the life of Martin Luther King, Jr. First, he is the servant of God, his followers, and second by death (Dela Cruz, 2020). Servant leaders consciously place their subordinates first, even if it entails self-denial (Sun & Shang, 2019).

Other character traits that are most recognized among servant leaders are listening, transparency, and honesty. The high standard required of a workplace leader is integrity, which you cannot have without trust (Băeşu, 2018). For instance, a leader's ability to be transparent by sharing feelings and listening to others' ideas demonstrates his or her awareness, empathy, and having nothing to hide, which builds trust (Sun & Shang, 2019; Tanno & Banner, 2018). Varela et al. (2019) posited "servant leadership is a type of supportive leadership that encourages employees' proactive work behavior" (p.187). According to Gašková (2020), "behaviors of the servant leader represent the core of the servant leadership" (p. 28). Based on Greenleaf's writings, Spears (1996) identified the 10 most popular characteristics of the servant leader. Later, he added care, compassion, integrity, and ethics as other traits developed by a servant leader (Stewart, 2012; Taylor et al., 2007; van de Bunt-Kokhuis & Sultan, 2012).

Transformational Leadership

Leadership is the process of finding effective ways to motivate followers to accomplish common goals (Rabiul & Yean, 2021). The different leadership styles and their effectiveness depends on the leader's chosen style, character, industry-related experience, and the cultural environment. A leader's ability to adjust their style to a situation shows flexibility. Transformational leadership (TL) materialized in the late 1980 and emerged as an influential leadership style during the 21st Century (Bonsu & Twum-Danso, 2018). Transformational leadership focuses on encouraging followers to remain optimistic while decreasing their frustrations within the workplace (Rabiul & Yean, 2021). A transformative leader is typically one who can motivate and inspire the employees of a company to embrace organizational change that will position the organization for future success (Baba et al., 2021; Sondaite & Keidonaite, 2020).

The servant leader aims to place the follower's interest above his or her own, which can motivate followers to achieve a shared goal (Russell & Stone, 2002).

Transformational leaders seek to motivate their followers by helping them to look beyond their own self-interest to accomplish organizational goals. Both leadership styles place importance on the emotional and intellectual development of followers, increasing willingness to achieve organizational goals. According to Rabiul and Yean (2021), "servant leaders pay more attention to ethical demands, thereby placing empowerment ahead of self and organizational interests" (p. 2). While the servant leader's approach is "individual before organization," it does not cause disruption within the organization, but

rather inspires followers to embrace the organization's goals (Gandolfi et al., 2017; Mäkikangas, 2018).

Transactional Leadership

Burns (1978) was the first to introduce the difference between transformational and transactional leadership. Burns determined that a leader can be both transactional and transforming in his or her approach. Transformative leaders are quite different in their approach because the focus is to foster confidence in the employees to motivate them to complete tasks (Rabiul & Yean, 2021). Transactional leaders promise employees incentives such as tangible rewards for on time completion of organizational tasks (Saeed & Mughal, 2019). The motivating factor of the transactional leader for his or her employees is the reward and punishment system practiced (Besieux et al., 2018).

A deficiency of transactional leadership is the lack of interpersonal relationships between people (Brown et al., 2020; Saeed & Mughal, 2019). The commitment of a transaction-focused leader is on determining the needs of the organization, not its employees. The motivation of the transactional leader to be more responsive to their employees' needs is for the purpose of maintaining the level of inspiration to stay on task. Some employees prefer to follow transactional leaders because they offer rewards for the completion of tasks (Hansen & Pihl-Thingvad, 2019; Jacobs & Mafini, 2019). In contrast, others may prefer to follow transformational leaders because they increase confidence through interpersonal interaction which creates a common vision (Cluff & Colker, 2021; Gurieva, et al., 2017) and raises job satisfaction (Kammerhoff et al., 2019). Researchers

have found that both transformational leadership and servant leadership approaches are more effective when formulating strategies because the focus is on the employees' well-being in conjunction with achieving organizational goals and positively influencing employees' behavior (Haider & Mushtaq, 2017; Sayyadi, 2019).

Comparison of the Different Leadership Styles

Transformational, transactional, and servant leadership styles all have a direct connection with work motivation and performance (Lee et al., 2022; Maamari & Majdalani, 2017; Widyaningsih & Arfiansyah, 2020). The style of servant leader differs from both transformational and transactional because it has a paradoxical leadership style of serving and leading others (Saleem et al., 2020). Servant leaders can help subordinates develop their sense of service and self-sufficiency simultaneously (Bauer et al., 2019), resulting in a higher level of work performed on the part of the employees (Saleem et al., 2020).

Based on the comparisons of the transactional, transformative, and servant leader styles with the motivational goals of the leader, a transactional leadership style may be suitable, but it may not be most effective. Management-by-exception, which seeks to eliminate errors before they occur by strict enforcement of the rules (Brown et al., 2020). Next, there is passive management, where managers do not monitor the employees but act when the behavior is counterproductive to organizational objectives (Brown et al., 2020). The management-by-exception method would not be as effective in the real estate industry because agents are engaged by brokerage firms as independent contractors and

strict enforcement of rules would be challenging. For example, a real estate agent as an independent contractor is not required to have set office hours which means less interaction and opportunity for the broker to influence the agent.

In contrast, transactional leaders focus on motivating employees to increase their performance by creating an incentive mechanism through which their efforts are either rewarded for high performance or punished for underperforming (Krén & Séllei, 2021; Nielsen et al., 2019). Transactional leadership is more commonplace than transformative and servant leadership (Brown et al., 2020; Burns, 1978). Transactional leadership is known for its exchange process, where leaders exploit the needs of the followers to meet the leaders' expectations. The transactional leader's motivation is task-based performance, while the transformational and servant leader is people-oriented. The focus of transactional business leaders is on the supervision, organization, and performance of their subordinates (Edi & Wardhani, 2019; Sitthiwarongchai et al., 2020). The nature of the servant leader's character suggests that individuals avoid their self-interest, because it is seen as an antidote to unethical behavior (Heyler & Martin, 2018; Tanno & Banner, 2018). Whereas an ethical leader will focus on setting up processes and making policies that will encourage ethical behavior (Kuenzi et al., 2020).

Ethical Leadership

Ethics is comprised of a set of moral principles that help guide the activities of individuals or groups within the public or private sector (National Association of Realtors, n.d; Smith & Dubbink, 2011). Leadership is the ability to influence others to

both understand and agree with a vision of how and what needs to be done to accomplish a goal (Ouakouak et al., 2020). Servant leadership has been recognized as a leadership philosophy addressing the concerns of ethics (McMahone, 2012). Leaders who adopt an ethical leadership style are believed to exhibit high moral conduct to shape the ethical climate within the workplace (Ali et al., 2021; Ouakouak et al., 2020). For instance, ethical leaders help employees to accomplish organizational objectives by improving the individuals' perceived morality and contextual performance.

Moral and honest leaders foster good business conduct, encourage the execution of excellent tasks, make powerful decisions, and nurture corporate vision (Cesario & Chamble, 2017; Tripathy, 2019). Leaders who can show empathy and respect the concerns and rights of their followers are knowingly or unknowingly practicing self-awareness, while displaying ethical and emotional leadership styles (Ouakouak et al., 2020). Based on the comparison between transformational and servant leadership styles, the servant leader is considered an ethical leader (Ouakouak et al., 2020; Reed et al., 2011). According to Goleman, the most effective leaders have strong emotional intelligence (EI) (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018, p. 13).

Emotional Intelligence

Peter Salovey and John D. Mayer first introduced the term *emotional intelligence* (EI) in a 1990 academic journal (Salovey & Mayer, 1990). Emotional intelligence assist individuals in using their feelings to motivate and plan for success. Salovey and Mayer defined emotional intelligence as "the ability to monitor one's own and others' feelings

and emotions (p. 186)." The original concept is for individuals to rationalize and use emotions to enhance thought more effectively than others (Salovey & Mayer, 1990). Intelligence is defined as the aggregate global capacity of the individual to act purposefully, to think rationally, and to deal effectively with his or her environment (Salovey & Mayer, 1990). Daniel Goleman (2004) popularized the concept in 1995 by noting five main categories of emotional intelligence that researchers can further explore.

Emotional Intelligence is comprised of the following five categories: (a) *self-awareness*, (b) *self-regulation*, (c) *motivation*, (d) *understanding others' emotions*, and (e) *social skills* (Goleman, 2004). Self-awareness is not just recognizing your own emotions and the effect on others but having the confidence to know your limitations and capabilities. Self-regulation is about having self-control over our behavior, managing disruptive impulses, and maintaining standards of integrity and honesty. Motivation is the pursuit of goals with an unrelenting determination and consistency. Understanding the emotions of others and taking that understanding into account in how we treat people describes empathy. Social skills are using a combination of these components to manage relationships and build networks of like-minded individuals (Connors, 2020).

Emotional intelligence is a good antecedent of servant leadership (Barbuto et al., 2014; Lee, 2019). Although competing models of emotional intelligence exist, the basis of all EI models is the ability to monitor one's own and others' emotions to guide one's actions (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). An analysis of the literature revealed common characteristics among emotional intelligence, servant leadership, and ethical leadership.

The characteristics of self-management, awareness, integrity, honesty, empathy, motivation, trust, and moral values are present in all three leadership styles. "Self-aware and self-regulating emotionally intelligent leaders help others develop personal autonomy" (Goleman, 1998a; Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Autonomy among employees can promote employees' engagement and commitment within an organization (Anderson & Anderson, 2017). For example, Southwest Airlines, founded in the U.S. in 1967, encourages and trains its organizational leaders to exhibit a servant's heart, which has kept it a favorite among travelers today (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018, p.15).

Emotional intelligence has become an increasingly popular tool to measure effective leadership within business. The time of employers viewing emotions in the workplace as being disruptive has shifted to an opportunity to increase work performance (McLaughlin & Craig, 2019). For example, an employee who is an adequate worker may move to a role where his or her technical competencies and emotional abilities increase job satisfaction thereby increasing work performance. The broker of a real estate firm would benefit from recognizing both the emotional abilities and technical competencies of its real estate agents to motivate and increase productivity. Emotional intelligence skills assist leaders to improve their effectiveness through servant leadership traits by enhancing how they interact with others through empathy, social awareness, and communication (Tanno & Banner, 2018; Zappe et al., 2018).

Emotional Intelligence Competencies

Leaders who demonstrate a high level of emotional intelligence become effective leaders (Fianko et al., 2020). Goleman (1998a) defined an "emotional competence" as a learned capability based on emotional intelligence that results in outstanding performance in the workplace (p.5). Emotional intelligence is a set of competencies that provides a person the ability to be aware of himself/herself, aware of others, and manages self and relationships (Goleman et al., 2017; Jacka, 2018). In Goleman's emotional and social intelligence model of competencies there are four parts (a) *self-awareness*, (b) *self-management* (c) *social-awareness*, and (d) *relationship management* (Goleman et al., 2017). These emotional and social competencies complement the attributes of the servant leader. Both share some of the same characteristics such as awareness and empathy which demonstrates with social awareness (Bawany, 2017; Mullen et al., 2019).

The competencies of persuasion, listening, and commitment to the growth of others are part of the social skills component of emotional intelligence (Mullen et al., 2019). For example, a leader that shows the same level of respect for employee perspective extends empathy and reveals his or her social awareness. Empathy is not the same as sympathy where an individual tends to agree with another person's perspective (Bawany, 2017). The test of a successful servant leader is to ask, do those that follow grow as individuals, become wiser, healthier, or servants themselves (Greenleaf, 2002)? Servant leaders do not seek fame, power, or wealth, but because they serve others first, it finds them (Tanno & Banner, 2018).

Emotional Intelligence in the Workplace

In the workplace, empathy, an element of emotional intelligence, can provide a leader the ability to consider another's perspective when it conflicts with one's own. Empathy can produce higher morale and assist others in reaching their professional potential (Cui, 2021; Jain, 2018). Emotional intelligence in the workplace can be an asset for leadership. For example, motivated employees setting and accomplishing goals can improve performance, and thereby the productivity and profitability of the organization. A self-aware and emotionally intelligent manager who has good time management skills can finish the job ahead of schedule (Cui, 2021). For instance, the manager possesses the ability to practice self-control, stay calm in highly stressful situations, and to actively listen to his or her employees concerns and opinions which builds trust and displays the transparency and integrity of the manager (Băeşu, 2018). An emotionally intelligent leader practices relationship management to positively influence his or her relationship with employees so that the work he or she does become more personal and provides a sense of belonging (Eva et al., 2019; Miao et al., 2018; Widanti & Sumrahadi, 2020). All these practices help the leader to build trust with employees for optimal performance.

A leader in the workplace who recognizes his or her own thought processes, emotions, and biases can make more informed decisions. For example, leaders who utilize emotional intelligence in the workplace are better equipped at recognizing and avoiding internal biases to promote harmony and improve decision-making (Moon, 2021). The decision-making process does not have to be the sole responsibility of the

leader. For instance, the brokers in states that predominately classify real estate agents as independent contractors should consider including agents in some decision-making because they, too, have accountability to the brokerage firm. It is to the benefit of the real estate agents to apply emotional intelligence to self-regulate their own success.

Working without emotional intelligence can lead to an erroneous approach to leadership duties and increase stress levels within the workplace (Aravena, 2019; Eastman & Cooper, 2020). For example, a broker without empathy will find it challenging to show support or sensitivity to the dilemmas of his or her real estate agents. The inability as a leader to connect makes it difficult to cultivate trust between employers and employees and communicate effectively to work as a team to raise performance thereby increasing profits (Cain et al., 2018; Cui, 2021; Maamari & Majdalani, 2017). The fact that most real estate agents are considered independent contractors does not alter the need for a fiduciary relationship between the broker and the agent to work efficiently (Barrell, 2014).

The Dark Side of Emotional Intelligence

Emotional intelligence, EQ can be used to aid, motivate, protect, and advance oneself and others because it is morally neutral (Eastman & Cooper, 2020). In its opposite form, EQ can be used negatively to manipulate others for self-gain which is referred to as dark psychology (Davis et al., 2016; Eastman & Cooper, 2020). Dark psychology is the phenomenon whereby people use tactics of motivation, persuasion, manipulation, and coercion to achieve what they desire (Eastman & Cooper, 2020).

Within the dark side of psychology, is imperative for the individual to recognize whether they are a perpetrator or the victim of manipulation.

Emotional manipulation (EM) involves influencing an individual's behavior or feelings for self-interest (Hyde & Grieve, 2018). This type of behavior is so insidious that oftentimes the victims are unaware that the abuse or manipulation has occurred until afterwards. Covert emotional manipulation (CEM) is the most experienced type of manifestation of EM in the world of dark psychology (Eastman & Cooper, 2020). The point of this type of control is to avoid detection by its victim. During the financial crisis of 2007-2008, dishonest behavior was one of many factors which led to the crisis by financial and non-financial institutions (Adebambo et al., 2015; Shank, 2018; Shoen, 2017).

Individuals differ in their reasons and motivations to lie or cheat (Heck et al., 2018). According to Heck et al. (2018), "...research across various disciplines has addressed which situational factors and personality traits can account for dishonesty, both in isolation and with each other" (p. 356). If an individual operates from a self-interest model, he or she is more likely to value achievement over the welfare of others (Shank, 2018). For example, in the real estate industry, if brokers and their agents withheld private information from the public, then this may lead to corruption and cheating. This type of dishonest activity is unethical behavior (National Association of Realtors, n.d; Simha & Parboteeah, 2020).

Motivation Theories

Leadership is the process of facilitating and influencing followers in achieving shared goals (Rabiul & Yean, 2021). Leadership plays a valuable role in determining organizational performance outcomes (Bayram & Zoubi, 2020). A servant leader is a style of leadership that believes caring more for followers' needs helps to motivate followers to participate in achieving organizational objectives. Understanding what motivates employees is important to the survival of an organization. The right employee motivation in an organization is necessary to achieve beneficial outcomes such as work engagement, performance, and job satisfaction. The emphasis placed by the servant leader on prioritizing the needs of the follower above the organization can influence followers to increase their engagement and performance to achieve professional satisfaction. A direct correlation exists between the leadership style and motivational method chosen (Nielsen et al., 2019). Leadership style ties into the tasks entrusted to the leader, explaining the how and the method of implementation (Băeşu, 2018). Motivation within an organization is known to energize and inspire employees' progress. Leaders can utilize several types of motivation to benefit both their followers and the organization.

Intrinsic and extrinsic are the most common types of motivation found in the workplace. Intrinsic refers to the motivation from within rather than an outside influence (Guillén et al., 2015). Extrinsic motivation is an outside influential source promising a reward for tasks accomplished or a threat of punishment for non-performance (Guillén et

al., 2015). Another type, affiliation motivation, is an individual's need to connect in relationship with a particular group, or an organization (Müller & Cañal-Bruland, 2020). For example, an individual motivated by affiliation is encouraged by connection with fellow employees outside of work. Achievement motivation involves the satisfaction an individual receives upon completing set life goals (Anderman, 2020). Lastly, expectancy theory of motivation is an individual's belief that if specific behaviors are increased, it will lead to an anticipated outcome (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018; Sherman, 2017). This type of motivation fosters a work environment that encourages goal-oriented employees. Most human behavior is directed by goals and needs (Maslow, 1954).

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory of Motivation

In 1954, Maslow described the hierarchy of needs in motivation as involving a five-level model of human needs, often depicted as hierarchical levels in a pyramid. The lower and basic needs in the hierarchy must be met before individuals can address higher needs (Maslow, 1954). The levels are physiological, safety, social, esteem, and self-actualization needs, in that order. The physiological level is mankind's basic need to survive, which includes the need for water, food, and shelter. Safety needs involve the desire for good health, personal security, property, and resources. Love and belonging are the level revealing human need for connection to others in either romantic or friendship relationships. The final need on Maslow's hierarchy is self-actualization which is the desire to become the best in life that one can achieve. The concept of this theory is if one

has a place to reside, food, and water then they will have the focus and motivation to move up to the next need of friendship, intimacy, and a sense of connection and so on.

Maslow later discovered his earlier versions (1943, 1954) of hierarchy of needs were incomplete. He found the need of self-actualization on his hierarchical list was a steppingstone to a more salient need he called self-transcendence (Rivera-Koltko, 2006). The later model including self-transcendence places the emphasis of human development at a transpersonal level, where the individual devotes themselves to callings or vocations beyond self-interest and ego (Rivera-Koltko, 2006). Maslow made a clear distinction between self-actualization and self-transcendence. Some scholars have concluded that Maslow never developed a sixth stage or final theory of self-actualization that stood alone, but rather that self-actualization is interwoven with self-transcendence (Daniels, 1982). Maslow (1993b) stated "I have recently found it more and more useful to differentiate between two kinds (or better, degrees) of self-actualizing people. It seems to me that I have found some degree of transcendence in many people other than selfactualizing ones" (p. 270). A good servant leader can ethically use the hierarchy of needs as motivation to help employees to advance up the levels (Varela et al., 2019). In the need's theory, consequently, ethical norms are neither consistent, general, nor communicable, because needs vary depending on the individual (Acevedo, 2018). The self-transcendence part of the expanded version of Maslow's taxonomy, particularly in motivation, has not been popularized.

Self-Determination Theory

Self-determination theory (SDT) is a macro theory of human motivation which suggests that people can stimulate themselves and others to act when their needs for competence, relatedness, and autonomy are fulfilled (Kanat-Maymon et al., 2020; Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Competence is an individual's desire to possess the abilities, talent, and knowledge they need to accomplish something effectively and successfully (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Relatedness depends on an individual's ability to forge meaningful relationships with a sense of connectedness and belonging (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Autonomy provides individuals the freedom in the workplace to make decisions and exert self-direction (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). Individuals that are more autonomous in their behaviors will more than likely continue the behavior and feel good overall (Martela & Pessi, 2018). For example, employees can decide when certain job duties will be completed if it is quality work and does not cause an adverse outcome to organizational objectives.

The theory of self-determination suggests that leaders and followers find work intrinsically motivating by responding to their needs for autonomy, relatedness, and competence in the workplace (Vidic et al., 2016, p. 9). In contrast, the public downfall and bad leadership of companies such as Enron, Blockbuster, and Compaq show that having at least one or two of these components met does not ensure organizational success. Today, ethical lapses in judgement continue to afflict some business leaders because of personal weakness and defective character (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). The

ethical component of servant leadership remains essential because of the moral ineptitude of many corporate leaders (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018; Sendjaya, 2015). The servant leader works to increase task performance by helping employees fulfill their psychological needs for competence, relatedness, and autonomy (Neubert et al., 2022; Vidic et al., 2016), which also increases job satisfaction (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). The servant leader fosters a nurturing environment of trust, care, and respect that builds and promotes unity in the workplace.

Motivation in The Workplace

The type of motivation experienced in the workplace determines the effort and behavior of an individual (Alhassan & Greene, 2020). Maslow's theory of self-actualization reveals there are motivators beyond our basic needs to help us reach our full potential. Maslow's basic needs theory reflects what most individuals want in a job; job security, feeling valued, macro management, and a sense of purpose (Alhassan & Greene, 2020). Organizational leaders choose to implement their methods of motivation differently. Some use tangible forms of motivation like monetary rewards, holidays, or gifts (Northouse, 2018; Smith, 2020). Whereas other forms of motivation are intangible. Examples of this are verbal or written praise of performance, or by celebrating of achievements (Northouse, 2018; Smith, 2020). Motivation implemented by leaders in any organization has the same goal of keeping their employees interested and productive in accomplishing organizational goals.

Servant leaders are seen as role models with the ability to influence employees to work with a servant attitude (Eva et al., 2019; Neubert et al., 2022; Ruiz-Palomino & Zoghbi-Manrique-de-Lara, 2020). For example, a servant attitude in the workplace is exemplified by the employee that is not self-absorbed and does what is right even when inconvenient. For instance, having a servant attitude would mean employees have a mindset of selflessness and growth which keeps them motivated to achieve goals. The servant leader believes employees have an intrinsic value beyond their tangible work abilities which helps leaders to listen receptively to what is being said and unspoken (Spears, 1996) and lessens the chance for confusion or resistance to organizational goals (Fuioaga & Rusu, 2018). Leaders may improve employee motivation if they are aware of the potential factors that influence it (Campos-García & Zúñiga-Vicente, 2019).

Elements of Principal-Agent Relationships

The motivation behind an employee's behavior can be influenced by the type of relationship he or she has with the employer (Campos-García & Zúñiga-Vicente, 2019; Vidic et al., 2016). In the real estate industry, most broker-agent relationships would be identified as principal-agent, not employer-employee. The principals of a real estate transaction can be the sellers, buyers, and the broker while the real estate agent has a responsibility as an agent to both the brokerage firm and clients (Arnold, 1992). The principal-agent relationship is an arrangement built on trust where one party legally appoints another to represent their interests (Baker et al., 2019). For this reason, it is imperative that all principals and agents in a real estate transaction understand the

principal-agent relationship so that it benefits all parties involved. This section of the literature review transitions from the conceptual framework to examine the influence a principal-agent relationship has in the real estate industry.

Agency Theory as Applied to Real Estate Industry

Agency theory is a principle launched in economics by Jensen and Meckling in 1976, used to explain and resolve disputes within a principal-agent relationship (Lopes, 2016). The difference in priorities and interests between agents and principals is known as the principal-agent problem (Heyler & Martin, 2018). An agency is a fiduciary relationship between two parties in which one, the agent, represents the principal in the daily business operations (Heyler & Martin, 2018). The employee-employer relationship primarily does not exist in the real estate industry between real estate agents and their brokers. The principal in that setting is the broker who either owns or manages the firm that hires the real estate agent. In an agency relationship, the principal (i.e., broker) delegates responsibilities to the agent (i.e., real estate agent) and monitors his or her progress. Another example of a principal-agent relationship is seller or buyer as principals and the brokerage firm as the agent in service to meet the housing needs of its client. Conflicts of interest can arise when the interests of the agent and principal do not align. This scenario can cause irrevocable financial harm to the principal and can be considered a moral or ethical hazard.

In the real estate industry, a real estate agent may be tempted to occupy two roles simultaneously in which one, the real estate agent, is acting on behalf of the brokerage

firm, the principal. In contrast, the real estate agent may choose to behave as a principal in the real estate industry to be both an entrepreneur and an independent contractor. This behavior may be of concern if its focus is self-interest which would create an agency problem because the real estate agent may make decisions that can negatively affect the brokerage firm financially.

Real estate agents have more autonomy than employees, but the broker needs to make clear the relationship via a written contract (IRS, 2020). The contract may consist of any rules and regulations constructed around the expected behavior to avoid any conflict of interests between broker and agent. For instance, make it a brokerage firm policy to have an agreement outlining whether he or she is an employee or independent contractor for federal tax purposes before allowing work to begin. A broker has specific responsibilities to employees under U.S. Labor Laws. For example, the broker must offer fair pay and provide a safe work environment (FLSA, n.d.).

In contrast, as an independent contractor, the real estate agent may have office space elsewhere, and the pay must be based on sales commissions, not on the number of hours worked (Department of Labor, n.d.). An independent contractor is an individual that performs services that cannot be controlled by an employer (IRS, 2020). For instance, a real estate agent as an independent contractor can be forced to attend all sales meetings but is not required to schedule appointments and meet with clients at the instruction of the broker. As an employee, the broker controls the agent's hours worked

and appointments set. Beyond the examples shared, the agency relationship between broker and agent can be equally complex and beneficial.

Agency Theory Impact on Workplace Motivation

A broker supervising real estate agents has the challenge of motivating his or her agents to perform. In the real estate industry, the relationship between broker and real estate agent can be either employee or independent contractor (FLSA, n.d.). In the United States, depending on the jurisdiction of the brokerage office and broker-agent relationship it can be an example of agency theory. The type of relationship that would recognize a real estate agent as an independent contractor is an agency relationship at its core (Solomon et al., 2021). Another example of an agency relationship is between entrepreneurs and society (Bendickson et al., 2016; Solomon & Hanson, 1983). In the D.C. metropolitan area, which consists of Maryland, District of Columbia, and Virginia, real estate brokerage firms choose to engage most real estate agents as independent contractors (Council Code of the District of Columbia, 2021; FLSA, n.d.; Virginia Misclassification of workers, Stat, 2018). In Virginia, new laws passed in 2020 that require a broker to classify an agent who is earning a wage automatically as an employee unless they can justify otherwise (Virginia Misclassification of workers, Stat, 2018).

Since the requirement of a broker to exercise supervision over his or her real estate agents under the Fair Labor Standards Act conflicts with one of the basic tenants of an independent contractor relationship, is challenging for a broker to both comply with labor laws and fulfill his or her supervisory duties under real estate state laws (FLSA,

- n.d.). Most states have adopted some aspect of the California Supreme Court ABC test which ask the following (*Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles, California Appellate Reports, Supreme Court of Appeals, 2018*):
 - 1. Is the real estate agent free from the control and direction of the company in connection with the performance of the work?
 - 2. Does real estate agent perform work outside the usual course of the company's business?
 - 3. Is the real estate agent customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, or business of the same nature as that involved in the work performed?

Absent a state law to the contrary, the familiar three-part IRS test is recognized (IRS, 2020):

- 1. The real estate agent must be a licensed real estate professional.
- 2. Substantially all the real estate agent's pay must be directly related to sales, not hours worked.
- 3. There must be a written contract stating that the real estate agent will not be treated as an employee for federal tax purposes.

A real estate broker will need to be creative with his or her method of motivation for agents that are not classified as employees. For example, supplying real estate agents with monthly progress sales reports and/or using an office display board to display agents' achievements may motivate and increase agent performance. Forms of motivation

such as providing healthcare, stock options, and title promotions cannot be used for independent contractors (Alhassan & Greene, 2020). According to Alhassan and Greene (2020), the rewards based on job performance should be given year-round, not just monthly or quarterly. Motivation drives employee performance and can negatively or positively effect company revenues.

Performance and Profitability in Businesses

Businesses operate with a universal goal of earning profits (Widanti & Sumrahadi, 2020). Human resources, capital, assets, and leadership are all important elements required for the sustainability and success of an organization. The leader of an organization is the most essential because he or she decides how the elements such as capital, human resources, and assets will be managed to achieve the company's objectives (Galavotti, 2019; Kharis, 2015). Employees provide the human capital required for the success of an organization such as labor, experience, and skill set (Widyaningsih & Arfiansyah, 2020). An individual's experience and skill set can vary based on prior training, experience, or education. A company can enhance its employees' skill set and increase experience through investing in additional training and education for its employees. An educational institution may invest in providing its teachers with innovation training to increase interest for topics taught and willingness to learn as technology develops (Widyaningsih & Arfiansyah, 2020).

The profitability of an organization is one of its core measures to gauge performance (Widanti & Sumrahadi, 2020). A firm's profitability is traditionally

measured by capital in terms of the organizational income, return on asset which evaluates and measures the organization's efficiency, and profit margin showing the overall profitability (Tomic et al., 2018). The type of leader within the workplace is another factor contributing to increasing profits (Priyadharshini & Sudhahar, 2019). Leadership styles can be a determining factor in whether an organization experiences growth or profit loss. An internal issue that can also be a hindrance to an organization's profitability, such as the condition of the employer-employee relationship (Cinite & Duxbury, 2018). An effective organizational leader can oftentimes experience resistance to change because the desires or goals of the employer (principal) and employee (agent) conflict (Cinite & Duxbury, 2018; Ferreira et al., 2018; Heyler & Martin, 2018). The phenomenon is an agency problem which originates from agency theory.

Ethics and Decision-Making in the Real Estate Industry

The real estate industry has evolved over the last decade as the result of the 2007-2008 financial crisis. The financial crisis has created information asymmetry within the real estate brokerage market, which implies the possibility of some real estate agents entertaining and implementing deceptive practices (Chen et al., 2020). The asymmetry of information about financial markets is the buyer or seller has more material knowledge than the other. In the real estate brokerage field, information asymmetry is the byproduct of sellers and homeowners having access to information that previously required the help of a real estate agent (Chen et al., 2020). For example, a buyer or homeowner looking to sell can now use the internet to access property values, conduct property searches, and

many have the option of taking virtual tours. First-time homebuyers know more about their interested property before they even speak to the real estate agent. Today, sellers may feel more confident about how to list and sell their property without the assistance of an agent.

The residential real estate market and reforms in the real estate brokerages continue as the industry is regulated. The level of accountability and responsibility real estate brokers and their real estate agents have in providing their clients the best representation during their transaction is essential to building trust and repeat customers (Ferreira et al., 2018; Patron & Roskelley, 2008). Real estate agents are faced with protecting the interests of their clients which at times requires making difficult decisions on behalf of clients and sometimes their interests may overlap. This kind of situation can create an opportunity for a real estate agent to struggle with making an ethical or unethical decision (Chen, et al., 2020). Real estate agents protect their reputation and potential for future business referrals by aggressively bargaining home sales for their clients (Patron & Roskelley, 2008). A client's ability to better understand the decision making and sales process of a real estate agent may lead to more transparency and recommendations to improve performance and quality of the services real estate agents provide to the public (Ferreira et al., 2018).

Controversy continues to mount around the methodology that can be used to evaluate service quality pertaining to real estate brokerage firms because of the difficulty in observing a broker's level of effort (Ferreira et al., 2018). Researchers have suggested

a qualitative decision-making approach, Decision Expert (DEX), that combines multiple criteria decision analysis (MCDA) with rule-based expert systems which was developed in the 1980s (Bohanec et al., 2013; Ferreira et al., 2018). The DEX methodology has a long history of technical, scientific, and practical contributions (Bohanec et al., 2013), but because of the complexity of DEX, a more user-friendly software version called DEXi was created and has proven to be useful.

Impact of Real Estate Agents Reputation on Performance

Nguyen et al. (2020) found that ethical behavior can improve a firm's performance. The real estate brokerage industry can benefit from their real estate agents practicing ethical behavior which enhances their relationship and reputation with customers and the general public (Chen et al., 2020; Piazolo & Förster, 2019). Trust influences the attitude of customers towards companies (Chen et al., 2020). Trustworthiness between a real estate agent and his or her client does not guarantee a successful interaction, but is a prerequisite to it (Paesbrugghe et al., 2020). Real estate agents have a responsibility to provide their clients with quality service to support the ability of the firm to thrive in a competitive environment (Paesbrugghe et al., 2020).

Real estate agents assign different values to reputation (Shi & Tapia, 2016). Some real estate agents assign a higher value to his or her reputation because for them being a realtor is a long-term career choice. Although their counterparts may not value moveaway sellers because they do not see them as an opportunity for repeat business. Loyal employees have a positive impact on the profitability of the organization (Widanti &

Sumrahadi, 2020). A real estate agent that makes decisions based upon self-interest and greed is not committed to the organization's success. In the real estate brokerage field, the broker's role is to positively influence the performance of their real estate agents.

Implementing Change in the Real Estate Industry

The bust of the real estate housing bubble in the United States affected over half of the country (Kress & Turk, 2020). Some factors involved in the mortgage crisis were the rush to lend money to homeowners without regard to their ability to repay, some investors posing as subprime borrowers to receive lower interest rates, and the many unscrupulous real estate professionals (Wachter & Keys, 2018-present). The real estate industry is often under pressure to improve the value of its services because of a lack of ethical business conduct by some real estate professionals. For instance, real estate agents who lie to their clients make them feel cheated when the truth is revealed, which in turn, affects the broker's reputation (Lee, 2012; Piazolo & Förster, 2019).

A strong reputation is necessary for any organization and works by increasing the trustworthiness of the services provided, which can also be used as a source of competitive advantage (Dowling & Moran, 2012; Hamzah & Shamsudin, 2020; Nyuur et al., 2019). It is highly probable that prospective clients would not want to hire a real estate agent who is disorganized and/or dishonest. With proper systems in place, an efficient real estate agent is not likely to overlook important tasks. Furthermore, a real estate agent that focuses on good communication and keeps his or her promises to clients builds trustworthiness and strengthens the relationship's reliability which positively

affects the reputation of the brokerage firm represented (i.e., Coldwell Banker Realty, Keller Williams Realty). Trust in any relationship, whether business or personal, is essential and a foundational element required to be successful (Terblanche & Heyns, 2020).

Servant leaders are governed by ethics and their belief that enabling others' success is the surest way to drive their company's success. A leader's work engagement provides employees with a role modeling resource that contributes to employee engagement (Zhao & Xie, 2020). Employee engagement is the emotional commitment a worker has to the organization and its goals (Watson et al., 2018). In a real estate brokerage firm, an example would be the real estate agent's level of commitment to the managing broker to meet the organizational goal of being profitable. The broker's challenge is finding an effective way to model ethical behavior their real estate agents must imitate to gain the trust of their clientele thereby increasing the organization's profits.

The agency problem is a contributing factor to this challenge because it highlights the potential conflict of interest between the managing broker, real estate agent, and the clients (i.e., sellers and buyers). Because most real estate agents are hired by a broker as independent contractors, they are principal to their interests and agent for managing the relationship with the broker, sellers, and buyers. The research presented in the literature review suggests that emotionally intelligent leaders that choose a servant leadership approach may have more success in influencing their followers to model their ethical

behavior. To better serve clients and implement positive change, there must be a clear understanding between broker and real estate agent of the expectations of the leader-subordinate relationship. A managing real estate broker expects that real estate agents conduct their business in an ethical manner. As an independent contractor, the real estate agent expects the broker to supply them with necessary support (i.e., training, education, integrated technology) because unethical behavior leads to bad reputations, which can negatively affect profitability for both real estate agents and brokers.

Leaders need both cognitive and interpersonal skills to be an effective leader (Boal & Hooijberg, 2000). An empathetic leader who actively listens to subordinates would be more likely to collaborate effectively to solve problems. The leadership style as servant is based on empathy, which is an attribute of emotional intelligence and demonstrated by the leader's ability to assess the emotions of others. A solid connection between servant leadership and emotional intelligence factors is the ability to appraise and express emotion, enhance cognitive processes and decision making, understand and analyze emotions, and the reflective regulation of emotion (Mayer & Salovey, 1997).

Servant leaders can influence and improve the performance of followers through their behavior (Varela et al., 2019). A real estate broker who is an emotionally intelligent servant leader would need to pay closer attention to how their behavior is perceived by salespeople (i.e., real estate agents), to have the desired effect on their performance to increase profitability.

Transition

In Section 1, I furnished an overview of the study by providing an explanation of the business problem and purpose statement, nature of the study, research and interview questions, significance of the study, and conceptual framework. I further explained the contribution to business practice, implications for social change, and professional and academic literature. The literature review section of the study provided insight into how brokers in the real estate industry can lack the leadership strategies necessary to model ethical behavior and decision-making for their real estate agents. The breakdown of the literature review section was accomplished by discussing, analyzing, comparing, and synthesizing both conceptual framework and themes and phenomenon identified in the purpose statement.

Section 2 begins with a re-introduction of the purpose statement and description of my role in the research project and the participants of the research study. I will discuss the research design and method, data collection, population, and sampling, and the plan to maintain the ethical standards of the research. Section 3 will address the presentation of findings with application for professional practice. I will then reflect, make recommendations, and conclude with suggestions for further research in the field.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies real estate brokers use to model the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability. The targeted population was leaders of three real estate brokerage firms in the D.C. Metropolitan area, which consists of Maryland, D.C., and Virginia, who have led successful businesses for at least 5 years. The implication for positive social change is that improvement of the industry's business ethics and reputation may lead to increased charitable engagement between local real estate professionals and the communities they serve.

Role of the Researcher

My role as a researcher was to conduct interviews; observe and monitor to reduce bias; gather relevant data; and analyze results. The researcher collects and analyzes data to recognize within the analysis when there is a finding to report. Because the researcher is the primary instrument used to collect and analyze the data, focus and interpretive thinking are vital skills to possess (Clark & Vealé, 2018). Another aspect of the role is the responsibility for presenting the findings in a concise and competent manner to provide the connections between the results of the analysis and existing theory and research (Fusch et al., 2018). A researcher can use experience and previous knowledge to aid in the construction of the themes and analysis of data. The study outcomes and the interpretation of findings are subject to the researcher's life experiences, thoughts, and

worldview (Karagiozis, 2018). As the researcher, it is my responsibility to find ways to avoid biases that may arise from my personal experience.

My professional background includes roles as a bankruptcy and real estate paralegal, loss mitigation specialist, and Maryland-licensed title producer and realtor for 15 years. These positions included having business affiliations with banks, appraisers, surveyors, attorneys, title examiners, and real estate brokers. The experience provided me the opportunity to witness both the effective and ineffective real estate brokerage practices during the years 1997-2012, which led up to the financial crisis of 2008. According to the *Belmont Report of Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research* (1978), three basic principles a researcher must adhere to are (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice. The Belmont Report principles were used as a guide when conducting my research, especially since the integrity of the research depends on the integrity of the researcher.

Researchers can make errors that threaten the validity and the reliability of the study. Bias is a source of error. The basic disposition of humans is that everyone is capable of errors (Tamblyn et al., 2018). For instance, knowingly interpreting data to meet my expectations or asking a question in a way that may affect the participant's response is researcher bias. During the interview process, I used all the data obtained and continually re-evaluated the impressions and assumptions to ensure pre-existing assumptions were avoided. A strategy to reduce bias is practicing reflexivity, which is the ability to examine one's own beliefs, judgements, and practices to not influence the

research study during the data collection and analysis process (Johnson et al., 2020; Mackieson et al., 2019). For instance, I used a reflexive journal where I take detailed notes during interviews, including how I may have influenced the responses and interpreted interview data. Reflexivity helped me to recognize any of my prejudices and subjectivities. The discipline of journaling in qualitative research helps to ensure the rigor of the research process (Fusch et al., 2018).

The objective of an interview protocol is to guide the conduct of the interviews and enhance the reliability of the study (Abdel, 2019; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). An interview protocol can include the use of a script, research guided questions, and openended interview questions to prevent participants from providing pre-formatted statements (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Sivarajah et al., 2017). The protocol ensured I ask each participant the same initial and follow-up questions. With the aid of the interview protocol, I was prepared to follow up on each participant's response to questions in a consistent manner and inquire further for clarification, based on the rapport established.

Participants

The participant criteria for the study required the selection of real estate brokers who have successfully utilized strategies to positively influence ethical behavior in their real estate agents. Participants were nine managing brokers from real estate brokerage firms in the states of Maryland, Virginia, and the District of Columbia (D.C.). When choosing the participants for a study, researchers should consider their knowledge of the phenomenon and previous experience in that vocation (Yin, 2018). My strategy for

identifying participants was to utilize the National Association of Realtors member directory to contact potential candidates by phone. The first nine business leaders to respond to my call, show interest, and meet all qualifying criteria were invited to participate in the study via email (see Appendix A).

Initial contact with the participants through phone conversation was the first step in building rapport. I emailed a consent form to receive written permission and participants' intent to voluntarily join the research study. A strategy to build a good working relationship was to immediately explain my intentions and expectations for the study, while also allowing the participants to ask questions. The need for the participants to feel comfortable during the interview process is essential to receiving valid and candid information for the research study (Kravets, 2019). A researcher's ability to actively listen during conversation and understand the cultural and social contexts in which the participants live is necessary to encourage open communication (Brayda & Boyce, 2014; Roberts, 2020). The mutual respect and trust built through open communication between researcher and participants early in the process later serves as an opening for follow-up responses or clarification if needed.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed are the research methods researchers consider as approaches to conducting a study (Fusch et al., 2018; Saunders et al., 2015; Yin, 2014). I chose a qualitative approach for this study. The purpose behind conducting this

type of study is to explore what strategies real estate brokers use to model ethical behavior and decision for their real estate agents to positively influence performance and profitability. Through the managing-brokers' experiences, the qualitative method allowed me to collect data on the *why* and *how* real estate brokers have chosen to model ethical behavior. A qualitative researcher explores the business problem and uses the interaction and information from the participants to gain insight into their opinions, values, beliefs, and intentions (Thiem, 2016; Yin, 2018). A qualitative study revealed strategies for how real estate brokers model the ethical behavior for their real estate agents, which could increase both reputation and revenues.

Researchers apply quantitative methodology using statistical methods to analyze variables, relationships, correlations, and hypotheses to obtain and measure research data (Beach, 2018; Fusch et al., 2018; Taylor & Hignett, 2014). The mixed method approach is a combination of both qualitative and quantitative methods to address research questions and test hypotheses within a study (Guetterman et al., 2015; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The qualitative evidence augments the statistical evidence to allow for a greater understanding of the data analyzed (Guetterman et al., 2015). The mixed method advantage is the ability to use numerical data to add precision to words or narratives, but combining quantitative and qualitative research can make a study time consuming and more costly to conduct. The use of quantitative or mixed method were impractical for my exploration of effective leadership strategies in real estate brokerage

firms because my intent was not to collect statistical evidence, examine the relationship between variables, or test a hypothesis.

Research Design

When selecting a design for qualitative research, researchers may consider ethnography, phenomenology, narrative, or case study (Tomaszewski, et al., 2020). After reviewing these options, I chose a multiple case study design for the study. The multiple case study design is appropriate when researching phenomena existing within organizations and the role and setting of leadership in those organizations (Yin, 2018). A qualitative multiple case study was the most appropriate for my research design because I conducted an exploration of the leadership strategies real estate brokers from multiple firms used in modeling ethical behavior for their real estate agents.

Ethnographic researchers observe participants, behaviors, and cultural phenomenon in their own cultural setting (i.e., groups or communities), which can be time consuming (Scharp & Sanders, 2019). The ethnographic research design was not appropriate or practical for this study because the practices of individuals, groups, and communities are not the focal point of this study. Phenomenological research is the study of participants' lived experiences through the lens of the phenomenon, rather than participants freely sharing their experience (Gauntlett et al., 2017; Tomaszewski, et al., 2020). The phenomenological approach was not appropriate because my goal was not to understand the subjective, lived experiences and perspectives of participants, but to learn about their leadership strategies. A narrative approach was considered, but its focus is on

researchers collecting data about life stories and discussing the meaning of personal experiences. The focus of this study is on specific experiences, behaviors, and actions to understand the leadership strategies of brokers not with participants' human experience or inquiry that produces data in narrative form.

Data saturation is dependent on the topic, purpose, and data collection and analysis methods of a study (Fusch et al., 2018). A researcher can ensure data saturation when rich descriptive data, which are intricate and detailed information, are collected (Hennink et al., 2017). A multiple case study design allowed me to add to the number of participants until no new information emerged. Saturation is reached when additional interviews do not add further information to the study (Fofana et al., 2020; Fusch & Ness, 2015; Moser & Korstjens, 2018).

Population and Sampling

The target population for this study was real estate brokers from the tri-state area of Maryland, D.C., and Virginia who had successfully implemented leadership strategies to model ethical behavior for their real estate agents. With a multiple case design, it is difficult to decide on an exact number of participants because of the depth of information that the participants may provide (Sim et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). A sample size as small as six participants can reach data saturation (Chai et al., 2021). The richer the data collected from each participant, the fewer participants are needed (Morse, 2000; Vasileiou et al., 2018).

For this study, I used purposive sampling, which is an efficient form of finding and selecting participants. Purposeful sampling is the technique to obtain a representative subset of a larger population to serve a specific purpose (Andrade, 2021; Suri, 2011). Purposeful sampling allowed me to choose participants based on the criteria outlined in my study. The participation criteria included a minimum of 5 years' work experience as a licensed broker along with meeting the population requirement. Using purposeful sampling ensured the brokers selected had the comprehensive insight to effectively answer the research question.

The sample included three brokers from three different brokerage firms for a total of nine participants. A plethora of articles and books that provide guidance on sample size, suggesting as few as 5 and up to 50 participants as adequate to reach data saturation (Dworkin, 2012; Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). I chose nine brokers as the target number because the participants for this study are homogeneous and can serve as a representative group of the larger real estate community. Having many participants in a study can be overwhelming, causing a quick depletion of resources or increasing the risk of errors (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). My goal was to collect rich data because the richer the data, the fewer participants are needed. Data saturation is reached when no new information is revealed through the interviews and data analysis processes (Bijani et al., 2021; Fusch et al., 2018). If more participants are required to reach data saturation, purposeful sampling allowed me to add them.

The setting for the interviews was either virtual or in person at a location where the participants were comfortable and not easily distracted. Virtual choices can be Microsoft Teams or Zoom meetings. As noted above, I contacted potential participants by phone to determine interest and confirm they met the participation criteria, at which time, I determined their preference for the interview setting.

Ethical Research

Ethics in research enhance ethical practices and behaviors, which safeguards compliance requirements and the reliability of the study (Hamid & Widjaja, 2019; Sivasubramanian et al., 2021). To maintain ethical standards and professionalism, the Walden University Institutional Review Board reviewed and approved the request for collected data (approval number 10-07-22-0643291) for this study. The ability to demonstrate and apply ethical standards in research was imperative when protecting the participants of a study. Informed consent is an essential part of ethical research and outlines both the purpose and risk involved (Grady, 2015; Regmi et al., 2017). The use of a consent form is more than an agreement between parties, it is a process. I used a consent form (see Appendix B) to confirm my identity, contact information, the role of the participants, the study objective, and how the results of the study would be used.

A phone conversation with potential participants allowed me to explain my intentions and expectations in relation to the study, while also allowing the participants to ask questions. Next, I emailed the consent form (see Appendix B) to extend an invitation to join the research study. All nine participants responded and agreed to participate in the

study. IRB procedures specify that research participation is voluntary to avoid participants feeling coerced into participating (Connelly, 2014). The consent form included statements regarding voluntary participation without incentives and a participant's right to withdraw from the study at any time. No incentives were offered to ensure participants were motivated by genuine interest and not influenced by financial rewards. Participants may opt out of the study by either a phone call or sending an email. Upon receiving a participant's request to withdraw, they will no longer be a part of the study. Any data collected from participants who opt out of the research study would be immediately destroyed. Notably, no participants chose to opt out of the study. All participants who initially agreed to participate remained actively involved throughout the entire duration of the study.

The consent form explains how I protected the participants' privacy. The privacy of participants and their ethical protection limits any risks of misuse of any information provided by the participants (Zhang & Liu, 2019). A coding system with a letter and number combination (e.g., P1B1, P2B2) was assigned to each participant as their identifier throughout the study for the purpose of confidentiality. I ensured the ethical protection of participants throughout the research process by following the recommendations of the Belmont Report and obtaining Walden Institutional Review Board approval of the plan.

The data, including printed pages and documents from the participants' websites and my personal research journal, were locked, and stored in a secure location. All

digitalized data from each participant were stored on a secured hard drive and an external USB drive. I will securely store all data for 5 years to protect the confidentiality of participants. After 5 years, all documents will be destroyed by shredding and the digitized data will be permanently erased from hard and thumb drives.

Data Collection Instruments

In qualitative research, the researcher is the primary instrument for collecting and analyzing research data (Scharp & Sanders, 2019). As the primary instrument, researchers can enhance the study because they can generate a thorough understanding of the phenomenon with the help of the participants (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The six approaches for collecting research data are as follows: (a) interviewing, (b) analyzing records, (c) administering surveys, (d) researching archived documents and media, (e) personal observation of participants, and (f) using physical objects (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Yin, 2018). I used semistructured interviews asking open-ended questions that generate detailed data and provide the flexibility for participants to bring their own personality and perspective to the discussion, which explored leadership strategies to model ethical behavior. A comprehensive search was conducted to acquire various forms of secondary documentation, including customer reviews, company blogs, Facebook reviews, and Yelp reviews. The participants' websites provided the study's most relevant and reliable secondary information. In contrast, alternative sources such as Facebook and Yelp reviews failed to produce valuable data, and none of the websites featured a company blog. I requested participants provide corporate documentation such as

Standard Operating Procedures and training policies. The participants expressed their concerns and were uncomfortable supplying those specific documents. The customer reviews, company value statements, and transparency statements from the brokerage's website provided relevant secondary data.

During the interviews, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix C). The interview protocol serves to guide the conduct of the interviews and enhance the reliability of the study (Abdel, 2019; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). An interview protocol can include the use of a script, research guided questions, and open-ended interview questions (see Appendix D) to prevent participants from providing pre-formatted statements (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Sivarajah et al., 2017). I utilized open-ended interview questions, guided by the protocol, and the interviews were approximately 30 minutes in duration.

In following the interview protocol, I informed each of the participants about the member checking process. Member checking is the technique that the researcher uses to help improve accuracy, credibility, reliability, and validity of a study (Brear, 2019). The participants reviewed a summary of my interpretations of their responses to provide the opportunity to confirm accuracy and provide further insights. Member checking also allowed me to mitigate bias, continue to build trust with participants, and ensure the reliability and validity of results.

Data Collection Technique

I conducted semistructured interviews using Zoom and Microsoft Teams videoconferencing, whichever was convenient for the participants and recorded the interviews to create a record of participants' responses. I used Zoom to interview four participants and Microsoft Teams to interview five participants. The interviews were recorded to create a record of participants' responses. Prior to the interviews, participants were provided with a consent form that included a statement emphasizing voluntary participation without any incentives. Participants were not offered any incentives to ensure that their motivation stemmed from genuine interest. The choice to use videoconferencing to conduct the interview gave me the ability to observe non-verbal cues and provided the opportunity to observe participants' reactions for a deeper understanding of the responses. The disadvantage to using videoconferencing is the possibility of technical problems. For this study, there were no technical difficulties encountered during the interview process.

During the interview process, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix C) to support the integrity of the interviews and guide me through the process. Using a protocol, I introduced myself at the beginning of each interview, shared the study's purpose and participant details, and answered any related questions before moving to interview questions. The interviews were approximately 30 minutes in duration, with an additional 15-minute window available depending on responses, to allow for follow-up questions. I took detailed notes during the interviews using a research journal to help

review and transcribe my journal notes to verify accuracy. The notes served as a primary source of data and provided a reliable record for later analysis.

Researchers can use data collection and analysis techniques to ensure the reliability, validity, and quality of a study (Wiseman et al., 2019). I enhanced the reliability and validity of my research study by using triangulation and member checking. Member checking is a tool to strengthen the trustworthiness of the research results (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). I provided each participant with a summary of their responses via email to review the accuracy of my interpretations. This triangulation of data from both interviews and relevant secondary documentation is crucial in ensuring the validity of the study findings. Triangulation helps mitigate potential biases or limitations that may arise from relying solely on one data source, providing a more comprehensive and well-rounded analysis of the research topic.

Data Organization Technique

A researcher's ability to keep track of collected data is essential for exploring and understanding a research study. Yin (2018) determined that using a data organization method enhances readers' understanding of how the researcher concluded the findings.

I used NVivo 12 software to store all source data. I transcribed all Zoom or Microsoft Teams recordings into a Microsoft Word document to upload the textual data into the NVivo software. Researchers use NVivo to organize data and assist in the data analysis process (Paulus et al., 2017). NVivo software allows storing and managing a wide range of source data such as research notes, interview scripts, company social media content,

video recordings of participants' interviews, etc. The software is designed to organize data into file folders, and then codes are assigned to manage the material into broad topic areas to recognize emerging themes. The NVivo software enabled me to separate each interview into a separate folder. NVivo allowed me to add links to documents and notes from my research journals to each participant. The proper use of NVivo ensured that the correct information was analyzed and that the findings were reliable.

I organized my data by creating individual paper and electronic file folders to support data organization. I have securely stored all research documents in a locked file cabinet to further protect the confidentiality of participants. Participants' names were coded as a combination of P1, P2, P3, and the broker organizations, B1, B2, B3, etc. For example, one participant label was P1B1, protecting participants and their organizations' confidentiality. Five years after completing this study, I plan to shred documents and digitized data will be erased permanently from the hard drive and thumb drives.

Data Analysis

Data analysis in qualitative research systematically searches and arranges the interview data, observation notes, or other non-textual materials that the researcher accumulates to increase the understanding of the phenomenon (Wong, 2008). Data analysis has primary and secondary sources of data (Prada-Ramallal et al., 2017; Rabinovich & Cheon, 2011). I analyzed both primary and secondary data sources. The primary data included summaries of each participant's interview responses and my personal research journal. The personal research journal was a valuable resource,

providing a deeper understanding of the researched topic, and capturing emerging themes and key patterns. The secondary data sources included customer reviews and company values and transparency statements from the brokerage's website. Customer reviews provided valuable external perspectives, shedding light on the effectiveness of the studied relationships, and revealing important themes. I used an integrated approach to data analysis, a combination of inductive and deductive coding methods. Deductive analysis helps the researcher organize the data and focus on the research question to choose the relevant data necessary for analysis (Bingham & Witkowsky, 2021). Inductive analysis is a process of thoroughly reading the data to allow the recognition and emergence of themes and codes (Bingham & Witkowsky, 2021; Theophilus, 2018). The integrated approach reveals a total perspective of the explored phenomenon (Theophilus, 2018).

I used methodological triangulation to analyze and confirm the validity of the data. Methodological triangulation refers to using more than one approach to investigate a research problem to strengthen confidence in the final research findings (Fusch et al., 2018; Fusch & Ness, 2015). The objective of triangulation is to enhance and demonstrate the reliability of research (Yin, 2018). A systematic approach to the data analysis process includes gathering all necessary data, disassembling, reassembling, and arraying, interpreting, and concluding (Maher et al., 2018). The first step in the data analysis process was to compile the data from all the collective sources. For example, primary data entailed the summaries of each participant's interview responses, video-conference recordings, personal research journal, and secondary data (i.e., customer reviews,

company website) information that others have gathered for their purposes. The second step in the data analysis process was disassembling the data in search of commonalities and differences to allow for coding (Maher et al., 2018). I noted any similarities and assigned labels to create meaningful groupings. The iterative process of searching for commonalities was critical to generating a rich interpretive analysis.

The third step in the data analysis process was reassembling the data into segments with related codes to identify themes. I used NVivo to code the interview interpretations verified by the member checking process. Having participants member check the summarized interviews ensured accuracy and validity and reduced researcher bias, and none of the participants requested revisions to their summary. Participants agreed that the summaries confirmed their responses. The Nvivo software sorted through substantial amounts of data, keeping track of the data analysis process through queries and cross-comparison features (Alam, 2020). NVivo allowed the user to save notes about the research as themes emerged within the system.

The fourth and fifth steps in the data analysis process are the interpretation and conclusion stages. I reviewed the themes and information generated by the NVivo software to interpret the data and draw conclusions. Upon completing the data analysis process, the themes linked to the study's conceptual framework and literature review. I conducted searches for newly published studies on the phenomena and checked for recurring themes and key correlations to validate the findings of this study.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability of research is referred to as dependability (Coleman, 2022). A variety of methods were applied to ensure both reliability and dependability of the research data and finding. A reliable research study utilizes multiple data collection sources (Yin, 2018). The use of various sources of evidence strengthens case study data when there are converging lines of inquiry (Fusch & Ness, 2015). By combining methods, a researcher can lessen deficiencies and biases that may arise from single methodologies. I used member checking and methodological triangulation to ensure the consistency and dependability of the study. Researchers can implement member checking by allowing the participants to review and correct the interviewer's interpretation of their responses. Methodological triangulation is achieved by using more than one method to collect the data. I used semistructured interviews and documents as my data collection sources. To increase the dependability of my research study, I took notes in my personal research journal describing my steps of data collection and analysis.

Validity

Validity is associated with integrity (Noble & Smith, 2015). In qualitative studies, validity refers to the research findings, credibility, transferability, and confirmability. While no method can ensure validity, there are ways to reduce validity threats and increase the credibility of research findings (Coleman, 2022). Credibility is the method that involves examining data findings to assess if the analysis and results of the research

study are accurate to the intended purpose of the study (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Researchers can enhance credibility by member checking, data triangulation, observation of participants, or using an interview protocol (Yin, 2018). I asked my research participants to review a summary of their interview responses to verify that my interpretation of their responses was accurate. As the researcher, I made no revisions based on their feedback.

Using semistructured interviews and document analysis ensured the compilation of all-inclusive data to answer the research question. The rapport with participants starts during the initial phone contact, when I informed members about the study and received their consent to participate. The interview protocol serves as a guide for conducting the interviews ensuring alignment between interview questions and the research question. The study used open-ended questions, and the script was the same for all participants. Using audio or video recording devices rather than notes allows for scrutinizing the raw data (Coleman, 2022) ensuring credibility and dependability.

Transferability in research is the degree to which the results/findings of the study can transfer to other contexts or settings with other participants (Leung, 2015; Moser & Korstjens, 2018). A researcher can achieve transferability using purposive sampling, which involves selecting individuals or groups with specific knowledge and training on the phenomenon under study. (Andrade, 2021; Palinkas et al., 2015). I used purposeful sampling to select study participants. Another common strategy for enhancing transferability is providing thick data descriptions and robust data (Cypress, 2017; Maher

et al., 2018). The selection of participants with varying viewpoints will also assist researchers in avoiding bias (Yin, 2018). By providing step-by-step information about the methods and findings of the study, other researchers can determine if and how the results of my research are applicable. Researchers can assess whether my research is relevant for future research.

Confirmability is another measure for testing the validity of qualitative research. Confirmability is how other researchers can confirm the findings of a qualitative research study (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). The strategies I used to safeguard confirmability are methodological triangulation and member checking. The methodological triangulation process is applicable for comparing data, disclosing any researcher biases, and reviewing responses from multiple interviews to establish study confirmability (O'Reilly & Marx, 2011). Kekeya (2021) stated the researcher also communicates the findings of the study to the participants to verify the meanings interpreted and confirm the data. The use of triangulation combines both subjective and objective information and enhances confirmability (De Massis & Kotlar, 2014).

Data saturation is a concept used by researchers to test whether they have collected sufficient research data. According to Fusch and Ness (2015), a researcher reaches data saturation when no new themes or codes emerge from the data. Data saturation is using multiple data sources, including choosing individuals that can provide information-rich interviews. I used semistructured, open-ended questions that will not influence the participants. To reach data saturation, a researcher should also use interview

questions that apply to different participants and mitigate personal bias (Braun & Clarke, 2021). I used methodological triangulation to reach data saturation by collecting data from interviews and document reviews. I ceased collecting data when I gathered enough information until no other themes emerged.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 includes the discussion of the study plan, my role as a researcher, participants, research method, research design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. I explain the elements and processes of the case study protocol, informed consent, semistructured interviews, reflexive journal, triangulation, and member checking. In Section 3, I present the findings, the application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for actions, and further study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The objective of this qualitative study was to identify the strategies real estate brokers use when modeling the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability. The geographical location of this study was the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area. The participants were nine licensed real estate brokers with at least five years of experience each in that role identified by pseudonyms. The findings of this study identified the following four themes that real estate brokers use to model ethical behavior and decision-making for their real estate agents: (a) mentor and mentee relationship, (b) leadership communication skills, (c) leadership support, and (d) use of technology as a tool.

Presentation of the Findings

The research question for this study was as follows: What strategies do real estate brokers use to model ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability? Aligning the overarching research question and data analysis, four themes emerged: mentor and mentee relationship, leadership communication skills, leadership support, and use of technology as a tool.

Table 1Frequency of Themes Mentioned by Participants

Theme	# Participants mentioning the term
Mentor-Mentee Relationship	7
Leadership Communication Skills	9
Leadership Support	8
Use of Technology	7

Theme 1: Mentor-Mentee Relationship

The first theme that emerged was mentor-mentee relationship. A mentor is often described in the business arena as a trusted professional assisting another professional in navigating a career (Hussey & Campbell-Meier, 2021). A mentor can be more than a manager, but also part teacher, part parent, part friend, with the proportions differing from mentor to mentor (Suryanti et al., 2023). Most of the participants interviewed expressed the importance of their role as a mentor to their real estate agents. P1B1, P3B3, P4B4, P5B5, and P7B7 each suggested that being seen as both manager and mentor helps build rapport faster and nurtures a notion of a shared vision. Mentoring activities require shared values, beliefs, and life goals (Suryanti et al., 2023). As an example, P4B4 and P8B8 shared similar experiences of how they noticed the mentoring of their real estate agents created a bond that motivated those agents to ask for help in situations where most would make an unfortunate decision based on pride and/or self-interest. With a working relationship of this kind, the real estate broker as a mentor can identify behavior patterns from their real estate agents (i.e., thinking and decision-making) that may increase the ethical risk to the organization.

P5B5 stated,

I believe my mentor-mentee relationship allows me to have more influence over the actions of my real estate agents when they are not in my presence. For this and multiple reasons, as a mentor, we see our role mainly as empowering mentees to ultimate success.

In addition, P5B5's website had an "About" page. The "about" page on a real estate broker's website can provide information about their background, experience, and insight into their values. This broker's website revealed what motivates the broker and what types of clientele they service. The elements of the study's findings also suggest that the principal-agent and mentor-mentee relationships complement each other in the real estate industry. Mentor-mentee and principal-agent types of relationships can help clarify roles and responsibilities, enhance knowledge transfer, build trust, and improve accountability. The agent (i.e., real estate agents) can provide insights and knowledge to the principal (i.e., broker), while the mentor can help the mentee develop skills and knowledge. The mentor-mentee relationship is built on trust (Zachary & Fain, 2022), while the principalagent is based on a contractual agreement (Eisenhardt, 1989); both need to have effective collaboration to be successful. P1B1, P4B4, P6B6, P7B7, and P8B8 indicated that effective relationships between real estate agents and brokers can improve both the agent's performance and the brokerage firm's profitability. Participants noted that a motivated mentee can benefit from guidance and support from their mentor, leading to

better outcomes. Thus, the real estate agents' motivation was found to be a key factor in the success of mentor-mentee relationships in the real estate industry.

The secondary documentation of customer reviews, company value statements, and transparency statements played a significant role in developing the theme of the mentor-mentee relationship for this research study's findings. The reviews revealed overall satisfaction with the positive service experience real estate agents were providing to the customers. The positive feedback from the customers showcased the effort real estate brokers put into modeling ethical behavior by effectively mentoring their real estate agents. The below review is from P4B4's website. The customer review stated the following.

Throughout the entire home-buying process, [agent's name omitted] consistently demonstrated integrity, transparency, and a genuine concern for our best interests. He always made sure to provide us with all the necessary information, including potential drawbacks or risks associated with specific properties for sale.

The company value and transparency statements emphasize the significance of open communication, collaboration, and accountability within the organization. An example of a value statement is, "We believe in fostering open communication, collaboration, and accountability to create a positive and supportive work environment for our real estate agents." By examining these statements, deeper insights were gained

into how mentors and mentees build trust and the importance of effective collaboration for achieving successful outcomes.

Relevance to the Literature

There is a direct link between the first theme of the mentor-mentee relationship and the literature review describing affiliation motivation method, self-determination theory, and principal-agent theory. Affiliation motivation is an individual's need to connect with others (Müller & Cañal-Bruland, 2020). The idea of self-determination suggests that leaders and followers find work motivating by responding to their needs for autonomy and relatedness (Forner et al., 2021). Relatedness refers to the need to feel connected to or cared for by other individuals, which promotes the quality of one's motivation (Firzly et al., 2022). In the workplace, the type of motivation experienced can determine the efforts and behaviors of the individuals. This type of leader (i.e., mentor) can also contribute to the individual's performance and increase organizational profits (Priyadharshini & Sudhahar, 2019).

The principal-agent relationship is built on trust, where the principal contractually appoints the agent to represent their interest (Arnold, 1992). Because of the nature of their business, the real estate broker and real estate agent's relationship can be classified more as a principal-agent than an employer-employee relationship. Real estate agents are independent contractors responsible for the growth of their business and that of the real estate brokerage firm, which always makes them both principal and agent. Since the

mentor-mentee relationship focuses on the growth and mutual respect between them, a real estate agent as agent is less likely to succumb to their own self-interest.

Relevance to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 1, the mentor-mentee relationship, aligns with the servant leadership theory. The foundation of this theory is that servant leaders are servants of their followers to gain their confidence and motivate them to perform. Defining the term "mentoring" has become challenging as traditional mentoring loses traction, but the literature indicates that alternative mentoring theories are emerging (Mullen & Klimaitis, 2021). In terms of mentoring, some think of an older, more experienced person guiding a younger person. In the real estate industry, a broker needs to be licensed and experienced, but they can be younger than some of the real estate agents they lead.

Traditional and modern mentorship have the same objectives, which are to enhance the interpersonal skills and professional development of mentees. Traditional mentoring is typically conducted in-person, with fewer interruptions and less reliance on technology. A modern example would be reverse mentoring, a new form of mentoring used in organizations to develop employees and expand their opportunities (Cain et al., 2022; Chen, 2013). Reverse mentoring is used in both private and public sector organizations and involves pairing a junior employee with a senior employee to facilitate mutual learning, irrespective of differences in seniority or culture (Cain et al., 2022).

Servant leadership is associated with several mentoring competencies including communication, professional development, and self-awareness (Hastings & Sunderman,

2020; Sims et al., 2021). Communication competence considers the mentor's interpersonal communication skills and self-awareness that make knowledge and skills transferable (Hamer et al., 2019). Servant leaders are effective communicators who can communicate with their followers with empathy and compassion (Dryburgh, 2020; Sims et al., 2021). Listening to understand mentee issues and concerns helps foster trust within the mentor-mentee relationship. Professional development competency is to help the mentee expand his or her knowledge within a chosen career and, over time, be independent of their mentor (Hamer et al., 2019). The professional development of the mentee will depend on the amount of time devoted by the mentor, and the number of contacts initiated by the mentor is positively related to the mentee's willingness to share leadership problems with a mentor (Hastings & Sunderman, 2020).

Leaders apply their mentoring competencies to support individuals in their personal and professional growth, helping them to mature into the people they aspire to become. As individuals become servant leaders, their skills to identify and address the needs of others increase, and these leaders will demonstrate the required interpersonal skills of mentors. (Frontier Nursing University Quarterly Bulletin, 2022, p. 11).

Mentoring relationships helps develop the mentee's ability to acquire knowledge, skills, and self-confidence to become a better student, employee, or organizational leader (Hastings & Sunderman, 2020). A mentoring relationship is considered unsuccessful when there is poor communication, a lack of commitment, conflicts in personality or interests, the mentor's inexperience, and perceived or actual competition (Suryanti et al.,

2023). A quote attributed to Aristotle is, "He who cannot be a good follower cannot be a good leader."

Theme 2: Leadership Communication

The second theme drawn from the analysis was leadership communication.

Leadership communication is an individual's ability to articulate a shared vision in a way that unites and motivates others to follow through in implementing that vision (Mayfield & Mayfield, 2017; Newman et al., 2020). Five out of the nine participants (e.g., P1B1, P5B5, P6B6, P7B7, P8B8) often referred to their need to recognize their real estate agents' soft skills. The consensus among participants was that their soft skills, such as active listening, empathy, and conflict resolution, can complement their leadership communication in several ways. Effective leadership communication involves conveying information, building relationships, establishing trust, and inspiring and motivating team members (Cohee & Voorhies, 2021). Soft skills can enhance these aspects of communication by helping leaders better understand and connect with their team members (Houda et al., 2022). For example, active listening can help leaders better understand their team members' needs and concerns, which can inform their communication and decision-making.

All participants agreed that using various soft skills and communication was critical to staying connected with their real estate agents before and during real estate transactions. P8B8 shared a method they call the 555 Rule, which encourages real estate agents to sharpen their communication skills daily by committing to sending five

handwritten notes to clients, five emails, and engaging in five productive conversations with clients. P8B8 stated,

The handwritten notes and exchanges are considered effective if they return a client's call, follow up on leads, and provide the broker updates on active leads. Active leads are those real estate transactions (e.g., seller or buyer) the real estate agents anticipate will close.

Both P3B3 and P9B9 mentioned they understood the importance of engaging in clear and transparent communication with their real estate agents to influence service performance by providing them with well-balanced and timely feedback on their activities, whether positive or negative. This type of interaction is typically conducted at one-on-one or monthly group meetings. Both brokers agree that because of improved communication, they have witnessed an increase in their agents' performance and business profitability.

The brokers further emphasized that consistent communication and interaction with their real estate agents provided valuable business intelligence and improved employee experience. Although P6B6 and P1B1 shared an opposing perspective that suggested leadership communication should be reserved for important updates or significant changes, they noted too much communication between leader and subordinates could diminish the leadership's importance and impact.

During the follow-up interview, a response to this opposing perspective was sought from the remaining participants. The collective response of P2B2, P3B3, P4B4,

P5B5, P7B7, P8B8, and P9B9 was that although this opposing viewpoint may be valid in certain situations, it is paramount to acknowledge that effective communication is a fundamental component of effective leadership. Leaders who communicate openly, frequently, and transparently can foster trust, alignment, and engagement among their team members, resulting in enhanced performance and better outcomes (Erickson, 2021). The literature suggests that effective leadership communication and servant leadership share similar attributes and behaviors.

The inclusion of secondary documentation, specifically customer reviews, further enhanced the exploration of the theme of leadership communication by shedding light on the participants' awareness of the significance of soft skills in effective leadership communication. These reviews provided valuable insights into how participants recognized the importance of active listening, empathy, and conflict-resolution skills in their leadership communication practices. For instance, the participants' examples and perspectives shared during the interviews highlighted the critical role of communication in establishing and maintaining connections with real estate agents, delivering feedback, and enhancing performance. During the interviews, P3B3 shared their perspective on the vital role of communication in establishing connections, delivering feedback, and enhancing performance with real estate agents. They emphasized that regular check-ins, active listening, and timely feedback fostered a solid trust-based relationship, improving team performance. The comparison between the research journal notes and the interview response summary confirmed the significance of communication for the participants

within the real estate industry. The collective response from the participants strongly affirmed that effective communication is an essential element of successful leadership, fostering trust, alignment, and engagement among team members.

Relevance to the Literature

The skill set required for leadership communication is similar to attributes and behaviors of the servant leader. Leader communication and servant leader empathy both highlight the importance of listening, awareness, and commitment to the growth and success of followers in encouraging proactive work behavior (Newman et al., 2020; Sun & Shang, 2019; Varela et al., 2019). In both personal and professional development, the attributes, work habits, and personality traits that are easily recognizable are commonly referred to as soft skills (Houda et al., 2022; Saranya & Guduru, 2022).

Leaders in business should identify the specific soft skills that are important for the success of their employees and organization. Soft skills include oral and written communication skills, decision-making, teamwork, ethical judgement, leadership, interpersonal relationships, and willingness to learn (Guerra-Báez, 2019; Lemos & Brunstein, 2023). The results of this study revealed that soft skills as a competence goes beyond technical skills unique to the profession, having more impact on organizational productivity. Soft skills also require interpersonal skills that contribute to personal success, employability, and professional growth (Lemos & Brunstein, 2023).

Relevance to the Conceptual Framework

Emotional intelligence is a strong antecedent to the attributes of a servant leader (Barbuto et al., 2014; Lee, 2019; Miao et al., 2021). Leadership style and communication skills are linked to emotional intelligence, which means that individuals with better leadership and communications skills have a higher level of emotional intelligence (Rauf et al., 2020). A more thorough analysis of the literature and themes revealed that servant leadership, emotional intelligence, leadership communication skills, and transparency share common characteristics. There are many definitions of leadership communication because it is a multidisciplinary field with participation from individuals of various cultural backgrounds (Mayfield & Mayfield, 2017). Leadership communication can involve effective writing and speaking, emotional intelligence, and intercultural communication skills for the use of situations such as conducting meetings, contract negotiation, functioning effectively in organizations, and handling internal and external relations (Barrett, 2013). During the COVID pandemic, many brokers in the real estate industry were forced to abandon the status quo and seek more effective ways to communicate with their employees both internally and externally, leading to an increased need for transparency. Transparency in leadership, especially in times of financial difficulty (e.g., the financial crisis of 2008), helps to maintain trust, as leaders must be transparent in how information is gathered and decisions are made (Crumpton, 2011; Erickson, 2021). Understanding human behavior in organizations requires the incorporation of ethical decision-making (Diaz et al., 2022). Transparency in

communications within an organization also builds trust, motivates employees, aligns employees with the organization's performance objectives, and encourages proactive performance (Ibrahim & Samar, 2022).

Theme 3: Leadership Support

The third theme from the analysis was how leaders demonstrated support of their followers in the workplace. How leaders provide support depends on their leadership style (Jabeen et al., 2020; Zada et al., 2022). Leadership can be defined as the capacity of an individual or a group to inspire, empower, and create a plan of action that enables others to achieve their personal or organizational objectives (Ngoc Khuong & Thanh Tung, 2023; Northouse, 2021; Tan et al., 2022). Motivation is what makes individuals persevere to achieve that goal (Asher-Slimak et al., 2023; Connors, 2020). P3B3 noted "the most important way to support real estate agents is by providing training and development opportunities." P3B3 further explained that by investing in their agents' skills and knowledge, they can help them succeed in the long term. This is the reason why they regularly provide in-person training sessions, online courses, and mentorship opportunities to their agents. In contrast, P6B6 said,

That emotional support is the most important way to support real estate agents. By being understanding and empathetic towards their personal and professional challenges. I regularly check in with my real estate agents to see how they are doing, reminding them of the organization's resources for managing stress, and encouraging them to take breaks when needed.

Effective leadership support is important for real estate agents' success and job performance, as demonstrated by the findings of recent studies in the field (Lee et al., 2022). For example, P1B1, P4B4, P6B6, P7B7, P8B8, P9B9 shared that they provide extensive training and development programs for their agents. This process includes a comprehensive onboarding process, ongoing training on sales and marketing techniques, and access to online training modules and resources. The participants also offer coaching and mentoring programs to help their agents achieve their goals. Some of the brokers in this study expressed that some of their agents are members of The National Association of Realtors (NAR), a professional organization for real estate agents that provides a range of training and development resources for their members (National Association of Realtors, n.d.). The membership includes online courses, webinars, and workshops on negotiation skills, marketing strategies, and legal and ethical issues.

The company information sections of the participants' websites contained a transparency statement outlining the level of support they intend to provide for their real estate agents. The transparency statement confirmed this commitment to support. The brokers revealed that real estate agents provided feedback indicating that they felt more motivated when working with brokers who offered support. This support assisted them in marketing their services and finding additional resources to expand their businesses, resulting in increased profits for the brokerage firms. Participants shared some of their motivational practices. P2B2 stated,

You know, I support my real estate agents by teaching them that motivation is more than their know-how, but the need to always stay seeking something internal that keeps them focused on achieving their goals. I and the other managers in my office try to lead by example the right behavior that we expect our agents to follow in hopes of motivating them beyond their efforts. Once a week, I shamelessly award a gift certificate and announce the agent that turned in the most sales contracts to help motivate the other agents.

Similarly, P4B4 said,

As a leader, one thing I try to recall is my time as an agent and how challenging it was, so I take all new real estate agents out on what I call shadow days to watch how I speak and listen to clients to understand their needs. Afterwards, we have a nice lunch and address what they have learned or if there are any concerns. My belief is this will let the real estate agents know that I am a broker that will do what is necessary to support them and it may also build their confidence.

A leader's style and emotional intelligence can significantly impact their employees' support and motivation (Miao et al., 2021). Autocratic leadership, for example, is characterized by a top-down approach where decisions are made by the leader alone. This style can make employees feel disempowered and unsupported (Fiaz et al., 2017). In contrast, a more democratic leadership style that encourages employee

participation and input can create a more supportive work environment where employees feel valued and engaged. The servant leader has a more democratic style of leadership because the servant leader emphasizes collaboration and open communication between the leader and their followers and encourages participation and input from all team members. P1B1, P3B3, and P6B6 encouraged collaboration between agents and fostered an environment of open communication by creating opportunities for agents to work together, share ideas, and support each other. This strategy can include team-building activities, regular meetings, and open-door policies.

It is essential to comprehend the levels of emotional intelligence in leadership, as it can significantly impact the motivation and support of employees (Eastman & Cooper, 2020). The high and low level of emotional intelligence is evident from the autocratic and democratic leadership styles, where the former can lead to employee disempowerment. At the same time, the latter can create an environment of empowerment and engagement. Based on the primary and secondary research findings, all participants possessed high emotional intelligence to model ethical behavior and motivate their real estate agents to perform successfully. Although emotional intelligence is generally acknowledged as an important attribute of leadership, some argue that it is insufficient on its own. The participants maintain that a leader must also have other qualities like a clear vision, strong drive, and the ability to inspire and motivate others (P2B2, P3B3, P5B5, P6B6, P7B7, P8B8, P9B9). There are differing opinions among business leaders on whether emotional intelligence is essential for effective leadership, with some considering it a

critical component of successful leadership, especially in the modern, intricate, and fast-changing business landscape of today (Margheritti et al., 2023).

The secondary documentation added valuable insights into how leaders demonstrated support for their followers in the workplace. For example, customer reviews shed light on the participants' recognition of the importance of providing training and development opportunities for real estate agents (as mentioned by P3B3) and offering emotional support and understanding (as mentioned by P6B6). These examples highlighted the critical role of communication and support in establishing and maintaining connections with real estate agents, delivering feedback, and enhancing performance.

The comparison between my research journal notes and the interview responses confirmed the significance of communication and support for the participants in the real estate industry. In my research journal, I documented my observations during the interview process, noting how the participants actively utilized listening techniques such as paraphrasing and summarizing their responses. These observations suggest that real estate brokers prioritize clear and concise communication with their agents to improve their performance. The brokers' active use of these techniques demonstrated their commitment to fostering effective communication, promoting understanding, and providing support to their agents. The participants' practices, such as extensive training and development programs, mentoring initiatives, and the availability of resources through professional organizations like the National Association of Realtors, further

supported the importance of leadership support in real estate agents' success and job performance. The participants' transparency statements on their company websites also reinforced their commitment to supporting their real estate agents, confirmed by agents' feedback to their brokers, indicating increased motivation. Participants showcased their dedication to supporting and motivating all team members by sharing motivational practices, such as recognizing top performers and organizing shadow days for new real estate agents.

Relevance to the Literature

The theme of leadership support aligns with the literature on emotional intelligence. Specifically, effective leadership support, coupled with the right leadership style and motivation components, can enhance emotional intelligence within a team or organization. Both leadership support and emotional intelligence (EI) are related to interpersonal relationships in the workplace. Leaders who support their employees are more likely to build strong relationships with them, leading to increased trust, motivation, and job satisfaction (Ouakouak et al., 2020). Real estate agents who feel motivated and supported by their brokers are more likely to be satisfied and stay with their organization for longer periods of time. This is particularly important in the real estate industry, where turnover rates can be high, and retaining skilled employees is essential for the success of the organization (Bilgees et al., 2022).

Leadership style plays a crucial role in shaping the workplace culture and influencing the overall success of an organization. As such, servant leadership is an

approach that prioritizes the needs of the team or organization over the leader's own interests, which demonstrates the behavior of a supportive leader. Leadership support is primarily focused on the leader's behaviors and actions towards their employees (Zainab et al., 2022), whereas emotional intelligence is more focused on the individual's ability to understand and manage their own emotions, as well as the emotions of others (Lumpkin & Achen, 2018). For example, if a real estate agent is struggling with a personal issue, the broker could offer support and guidance to help the agent manage their workload and prioritize tasks. The broker could also demonstrate empathy and understanding by acknowledging the agent's feelings and offering encouragement. As a result, the broker's leadership support and emotional intelligence can work together to cultivate a positive and supportive work environment, build strong interpersonal relationships, and improve communication within the team. A supportive work environment can lead to enhanced productivity, greater job satisfaction, and overall success for the real estate organization. By providing opportunities for personal and professional development, leaders can help employees to develop their emotional intelligence skills, such as self-awareness, selfregulation, and social awareness.

Relevance to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 3, leadership support, aligns with both emotional intelligence and servant leadership. It is important for leaders to recognize low or high emotional intelligence (EQ) as it can negatively or positively impact employee motivation (Eastman & Cooper, 2020), directly affecting performance. A real estate broker's EQ can determine their

approach to leadership duties (i.e., supportive strategies) such as promoting an open-door policy, having empathy, or providing mentoring.

Individuals develop low or high emotional intelligence for many reasons. For instance, a low EQ individual may have had a difficult upbringing with inconsistent family support and depression, which may be the reverse for the individual with high EQ.

In the workplace, individuals with low emotional intelligence may struggle with conflict resolution and maintaining relationships (Kundi & Badar, 2021; Kundi et al., 2023). This struggle may be due to the lack of emotional support received in their childhood (Goleman, 1996; Friedony et al., 2021). A leader with high EQ could help such an employee with low EQ by creating a positive environment and providing guidance in those situations to assist employees (i.e., followers) in navigating difficult conversations and resolving conflicts effectively (Oliver, 2020; Zysberg & Raz, 2019). Leaders with high EQ will maintain a good rapport with followers by being active listeners and communicators and having clarity for organizational objectives (Goleman, 1998b). In contrast, a leader with low EQ disrupts the communicative and decision-making process, which can lead to misconceptions about the organization's objectives (Eastman & Cooper, 2020; Zysberg & Raz, 2019) and lower morale (Moore et al., 2019).

Servant leaders can effectively motivate employees and increase morale by showing empathy and understanding, empowering them, providing coaching and development opportunities, fostering collaboration and teamwork, and recognizing and appreciating their contributions (Cui, 2021; Varela et al., 2019). Servant leaders often act

as "organizational stewards" who can provide meaningful support for employees' basic psychological needs of relatedness and autonomy to promote motivation (Varela et al., 2019). By prioritizing the well-being and development of their team members, servant leaders create a culture of trust and collaboration that empowers individuals to maximize their abilities.

The price of emotional ineptitude in business causes high turnover, unaccomplished objectives, and loss of revenue and relationships (Goleman, 1998b). These kinds of behaviors can happen in both business and personal lives. Emotional ineptitude refers to a lack of emotional awareness and the ability to effectively manage emotions in oneself and others (Goleman, 1998b). Servant leaders, with their focus on employee needs and creating a positive work environment, can lead to higher levels of employee retention and productivity (Cui, 2021; Malik et al., 2022), which can contribute to the overall success of the organization.

Theme 4: Use of Technology as a Tool

The fourth theme of the study found that utilizing technology as a tool for leadership can also align with the principles of servant leadership. The transformation of the real estate industry has been substantial, with technology playing a vital part in this evolution. The implementation of digital transformation is a disruptive procedure that affects the entire organization and leads to the emergence of novel working methods (Lopez-Vega & Moodysson, 2023). Notably, technology continues to evolve at a rapid pace, with new innovations constantly emerging. Real estate professionals must stay

current with the latest trends and advancements to remain competitive in the real estate industry and meet the changing needs of their clients.

Seven out of the nine participants shared their belief in the importance of digital transformation in the real estate industry. The real estate brokers recognized that implementing new technology would require significant organizational changes, which could be problematic for their real estate agents. The brokers encouraged their agents to share their concerns and ideas, and they listened carefully to their feedback regarding how they felt about technology. The brokers said they also made sure to stay current on the latest advances in digital technology relevant to their industry. To provide an example, some brokers have mentioned that they gained a comprehensive understanding of the capabilities of new tools like Google Duo, WhatsApp, and other industry-relevant software by attending seminars, reading articles, and seeking advice from experts. They also learned how to incorporate these tools into their business.

Leaders who demonstrate humility are open to learning from others and acknowledge their limitations (Krumrei-Mancuso & Rowatt, 2023). This receptive mindset is beneficial during technology transformation allowing them to be more open to new ideas and approaches. Several of the participants felt that their use of technology assisted their real estate agents in working more effectively to serve their clients and achieve their goals (P1B1, P3B3, P5B5, P8B8, P9B9). P7B7 mentioned,

I have concerns about the overreliance of society on technology, although I personally use it for schedule management. As a real estate broker, I am

uncertain about where technology is headed. Recently, one of my agents pressured a client to take a picture for social media promotion, and I had to address the issue. I worry that people are disregarding others' emotions and privacy in their use of technology. It seems that many millennials believe they have a right to use technology without considering its impact on others. P6B6 insists, I believe that technology plays a crucial role in the success of today's real estate agents. For years, I have been using various gadgets to simplify my daily tasks, and I encourage my agents to do the same. In my opinion, the real estate industry is ripe for innovation and disruption through the use of technology. At our office, we use customer relationship management and project management software to stay competitive, we make use of regulatory compliance software to stay current with the latest laws, regulations, and best practices related to real estate transactions.

Finally, all participants shared a common challenge in transitioning seasoned real estate agents to the new technological software and devices, while leveraging the techsavvy skills of younger digital-native real estate agents within the industry. The examination of secondary documentation, including customer reviews, company value statements, and transparency statements, yielded little insight into the development of the theme, highlighting the use of technology as a tool in the real estate industry.

Relevance to the Literature

The use of technology as a tool has become a driving force in enhancing the success and efficiency of businesses across various industries. Specifically, Theme 4, which emphasizes the use of technology as a tool, can be aligned with the principles of servant leadership to create a powerful approach for the real estate industry. For instance, real estate leaders can leverage communication tools such as messaging apps, customer relationship management, and project management applications to stay connected with their agents or clients, even when working remotely. By using social media messaging apps, leaders can fulfill consumers' changing communication preferences while promoting their business goals. Social media presence also takes leaders to new heights of popularity.

Artificial Intelligence, which is a branch of computer science that aims to create intelligent machines that can perform tasks that typically require human intelligence, can be a valuable tool (Mohd, 2019). In fact, AI technology has become increasingly popular in the industry and is often referred to as "PropTech". PropTech utilizes advanced technologies such as AI to streamline real estate operations, enhance data analysis and decision-making, and improve customer experience (Starr et al., 2021). For example, chatbots, which are automated computer programs designed to simulate conversation with human users, can be used as a tool to help real estate agents respond to customer inquiries promptly, thus reducing response times.

Relevance to the Conceptual Framework

Technology used as a tool by leadership has a strong connection with both the principles of servant leadership and emotional intelligence. The servant leader, as a model for ethical behavior, can use technology to assist by using social media and software like project management software, knowledge management systems, and workflow automation tools can enable team members to work independently and make informed decisions, which can boost their confidence and job satisfaction. Similarly, emotional intelligence is the ability to understand and manage one's own emotions and those of others, and it is associated with effective leadership. Both servant leadership and emotional intelligence, which are crucial aspects of effective leadership, share a common emphasis on cultivating positive relationships with team members and facilitating their personal growth and development.

Real estate brokers can support the personal growth and development of their agents by utilizing customer relationship management tools to identify strengths and weaknesses and provide targeted training. The brokers can also promote their agents' successes through social media, which enhances their personal brand, boosts confidence and sense of belonging within the brokerage, and attracts new clients. In summary, technology provides tools and platforms that enable effective communication, collaboration, and knowledge sharing among leaders, team members, and clients, regardless of their physical location (Cecchi et al., 2022). Using technology to support servant leadership, leaders can create a more inclusive and collaborative work

environment that fosters teamwork, builds trust, enhances overall team performance, and provides clients with a more personalized and satisfying experience.

Application to Professional Practice

This qualitative multiple case study aims to explore the strategies employed by successful real estate brokers to improve the performance and profitability of their agents through modeling ethical behavior. The study's findings on leadership support, leadership communication, mentor-mentee relationships, and the use of technology to promote ethical behavior and decision-making are highly applicable to the real estate industry's professional practice. Leadership support and effective communication are essential in any professional practice, including real estate (Cohee & Voorhies, 2021). Leadership communication encompasses information sharing, relationship building, trust establishment, and team motivation (Cohee & Voorhies, 2021). Integrating soft skills, like active listening, empathy, and conflict resolution, can aid leaders in comprehending and relating to their team members more effectively. The real estate brokers interviewed, for example, recognized the importance of soft skills and communication in staying connected with their agents and improving their performance. Real estate brokers can ensure their agents understand and follow ethical standards and best practices by offering resources such as the latest technology, guidance, and clear communication. Similarly, mentor-mentee relationships can benefit real estate agents in learning how to navigate the complexities of the real estate industry and ensure that ethical behavior and decisionmaking are prioritized. Through this relationship, the mentee can learn essential skills and

gain knowledge that will help them succeed in their professional practice because their mentor has already traveled the path of being a real estate agent.

Using technology as a tool is also highly beneficial in the professional practice of business in the real estate industry. Technology can help real estate agents track and document their transactions using electronic document management systems, ensuring that all necessary paperwork is properly completed, signed, and stored in a secure and easily accessible format. Real estate brokerage firms may use regulatory compliance software to ensure they stay current with the latest laws and regulations governing the industry, which helps them adhere to ethical standards and implement best practices.

The study's findings also suggest that transparency and technology can promote ethical behavior, streamline transactions, and enhance communication in the real estate industry. By prioritizing transparency and leveraging technology, brokers and agents can demonstrate their commitment to ethical business practices and help gain trust in the real estate industry. This strategy can lead to improved communication and collaboration between all stakeholders involved in the industry, which can ultimately enhance the overall functioning of the industry. A transparent approach also establishes trust with clients, ultimately leading to increased customer satisfaction and loyalty, which promotes ethical standards and best practices.

The ability of business leaders to become more transparent can lead directly to more empowered, high-performing employees who are confident that they can handle any situation that arises. This study has the potential to benefit real estate brokers looking

to develop strategies for their agents to demonstrate ethical behavior and decisionmaking, based on successful implementation by others in the industry. By considering
these findings and applying them to their businesses, real estate brokers can help their
agents make more informed decisions, create a more diverse and engaged workforce,
adapt to technological changes, and promote sustainability, ultimately leading to
improved business practices and outcomes within the real estate industry.

Implications for Social Change

The research findings indicate that mentor-mentee relationships, leadership support, effective leadership communication, and suitable technology can empower individuals to drive social change. Real estate brokers can develop their real estate agents' skills and knowledge through guidance and support, inspiring them to become effective change agents in their communities. In addition, brokers can foster a culture of inclusivity, promote diversity, and facilitate effective communication to ensure that everyone is working towards the same goals, which builds better working relationships and demonstrates unity within the community. Furthermore, no matter the distances between individuals and organizations, technology can increase access to information, connect them, and facilitate sharing of best practices for social change.

Application of the study's results to enhance business performance and effective processes may have social impact within the housing community. The presence of stable real estate brokerage firms can contribute to the well-being of individuals, foster community development and promote cultural growth, leading to improved profitability

for the firms and the communities they serve (Sayyadi, 2019). For example, the taxes received from the real estate industry can help fund safer, more attractive sidewalks, safety patrols, community organizing work, and infrastructure improvements, and these taxes can make investing in communities more attractive to companies who otherwise may not consider investing in them. Real estate brokerage firms that actively participate in community development projects, such as supporting local charities or sponsoring community events, not only foster a sense of pride and belonging among the residents and other community businesses but also help to preserve the cultural heritage of a community by promoting the development of historic properties or advocating for the protection of cultural landmarks. The active role of real estate brokerage firms and their agents in supporting community development projects and advocacy for inclusivity and cultural preservation ultimately leads to positive social impacts such as improved well-being and a high standard of living for community members.

Recommendation for Action

After conducting an in-depth qualitative analysis of the research data, four key findings emerged that may have significant implications for future action. This section offers actionable recommendations based on these findings. By implementing these recommendations, it is reasonable to expect meaningful improvements in the areas of mentee-mentor relationships, leadership communication, leadership support, and the use of technology in the real estate industry.

The study identified several actions real estate brokers can take to model ethical behavior and decision-making for their agents. The study found that real estate agents who provided solid leadership support were effective. To model ethical behavior and decision-making, brokers should provide their agents with the necessary resources, training, and guidance to make ethical decisions. They should also communicate regularly, provide constructive feedback, foster open communication to build trust and promote collaboration, and establish mentorship programs. By taking these steps, real estate brokers can create a culture of ethical behavior and decision-making.

Implementing the recommended actions to model ethical behavior and decision-making for real estate agents may pose challenges and obstacles for brokers. The primary obstacle is resistance to change from agents accustomed to old ways of doing things. To overcome this, brokers can provide training and communicate the benefits of the new practices to encourage buy-in, which refers to the process of obtaining agreement, support, or commitment from stakeholders, employees, or team members for a particular decision or initiative. Another challenge is the lack of necessary resources, such as funding and expertise, to provide training and mentorship programs. Brokers can partner with industry associations or seek government funding to support these initiatives. Time constraints can also be challenging, but brokers can prioritize the most important actions and delegate tasks to other staff members. Finally, implementing these actions may involve seeking experts for some areas at a cost, but brokers can budget for these expenses and seek cost-effective solutions. Real estate brokers can establish ethical codes

of conduct and policies to guide ethical decision-making and behavior among their agents. By taking these recommended actions, real estate brokers can model ethical behavior and decision-making for their agents, build a reputation as trustworthy professionals, and create a culture of ethics within their organizations.

As a researcher, disseminating the research results is an essential part of the research process. It is important to ensure that the findings reach a wider audience and can be used to inform further research, policy decisions, and practical applications. One common approach is to publish in peer-reviewed journals, which can give my research credibility and reach a wider audience of researchers and practitioners in my field.

Another effective method is to present the research at real estate industry events or conferences, which allows me to receive feedback from other researchers or real estate professionals.

I may also create a website or blog to share the research with a broader audience. The website and internet in general are platforms that provide opportunities to post summaries of the research findings, links to my publications, and other resources related to my work. If the research has practical applications, I will create training materials such as videos, webinars, and written guides to help others implement the findings. Social media platforms like LinkedIn and ResearchGate can also be used to promote the research and reach a wider audience. By sharing links to my publications, conference presentations, and training materials, I can increase the visibility of the research. Lastly,

collaborating with other researchers in the field can help me reach a broader audience and disseminate the findings more effectively.

Recommendation for Further Research

There were two limitations identified during the development of this study. Some brokers may not have regular interactions with their agents to positively influence their behavior. Other brokers may lack formal training to learn leadership strategies to positively influence their agents.

The study's findings have revealed further investigation may be required to address these limitations. Future research on the limitations of brokers' abilities to positively influence their agents' behavior could be improved by (a) increasing the sample size of brokers to ensure a representative range of experiences and interactions with their agents, (b) conducting surveys or interviews to assess the level of leadership training received by brokers, and (c) using qualitative methods to explore perspectives on effective leadership strategies and behavior change.

The lack of formal training for brokers to learn leadership strategies can be a potential limitation in positively influencing their agents' behavior. Future research can focus on examining the effectiveness of leadership training programs for brokers. The research can compare the behavior and performance of agents whose brokers have undergone leadership training with those whose brokers have not. Researchers can also investigate the specific types of leadership strategies that brokers need to learn to be effective in positively influencing their agents' behavior. The research can explore the

most appropriate delivery methods for providing leadership training to brokers, such as online courses, workshops, or mentoring programs. The findings of such research can help in the development of effective leadership training programs for brokers, which can ultimately lead to improved performance and job satisfaction for agents.

The research could be extended to a study that explores the role of technology in facilitating positive interactions and influence between brokers and their agents. I also recommend examining the adoption of technology by older brokers in comparison to tech-savvy younger real estate agents who are comfortable using the technology.

Reflections

Throughout my doctoral journey, my knowledge and perspective of the real estate industry grew, specifically the relationship between real estate brokers and their real estate agents. I learned about some of my strengths and limitations on the road to becoming a researcher and independent scholar. As a researcher, I found conducting this qualitative study on leadership strategies for modeling ethical behavior in the real estate industry to be a rewarding and informative experience. Throughout the study, I interviewed several leaders within the industry and gained valuable insights into the challenges and opportunities associated with ethical behavior.

As someone who has worked in the real estate industry and legal field for a considerable amount of time, I was conscious of the importance and possible effects of my presence on the participants and the situation. As an industry insider, I was concerned that participants might be hesitant to provide honest feedback, or worse yet, try to tell me

what I wanted to hear. Through self-reflection and conscious effort, I worked to remain objective and minimize any potential biases or influences. I challenged some of my preconceived notions and noticed that the participants shared common concerns, goals, and practices related to modeling ethical behavior in the real estate industry by carefully listening to them and taking their feedback seriously.

One significant change to my thinking after completing the study was the importance of ongoing education and training in promoting ethical behavior. I understood the importance of education, but initially believed that leadership and emotional intelligence alone could set the tone for ethical behavior in the industry. However, through the study's findings, I realized that all industry members, brokers, and real estate agents must possess strong leadership traits, emotional intelligence and the necessary education and skills to make collective ethical decisions. During the interviews, I was able to remain objective and learned valuable insights from the participants. These insights were important in identifying effective strategies for modeling ethical behavior and can serve as a foundation for future research and development in the real estate industry. The experience allowed me to challenge my assumptions, expand my thinking, and recognize the importance of ongoing education and training in promoting ethical behavior in the real estate industry.

Conclusion

The aim of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore a research gap in the strategies employed by real estate brokers to model ethical behavior and decision-making among their real estate agents, with the goal of enhancing performance and profitability in the industry. One key finding was the vital role of leadership in setting the standard for ethical behavior. Effective leaders lead by example and exhibit ethical behavior through their actions, demonstrating transparency, honesty, and accountability in all aspects of their work while prioritizing their employees' needs over their own. The study highlighted the significance of communication in promoting ethical behavior within the industry. Leaders need to communicate their expectations for ethical behavior and create an environment that encourages employees to report any unethical practices they may observe.

The findings of this study highlight the crucial role of being a leader with a moral compass in the real estate industry. Real estate brokers and agents play a critical role in property transactions, and their ethical behavior impacts not only their own performance and profitability but also the broader industry's reputation and the lives of their clients. Real estate brokers who use servant leadership and emotional intelligence as guiding principles can successfully model ethical behavior for their agents and promote a culture of trust and respect within the industry.

References

- Abdel, L. M. (2019). Using think-aloud protocols and interviews in investigating writers' composing processes: Combining concurrent and retrospective data. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(2), 111–123. https://doi:10.1080/1743727X.2018.1439003
- Acevedo, A. (2018). A personalistic appraisal of Maslow's needs theory of motivation: From "humanistic" psychology to integral humanism. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 148(4), 741–763. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2970-0
- Adebambo, B., Brockman, P., & Yan, X. (Sterling). (2015). Anticipating the 2007–2008 financial crisis: Who knew what and when did they know it? *Journal of Financial & Quantitative Analysis*, 50(4), 647–669.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022109015000381
- Alam, K. (2020). A systematic qualitative case study: questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management:*An International Journal, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Alhassan, N., & Greene, E. (2020). Individual approach to employee motivation: Is it worthwhile in the 21st Century? *International Journal of Global Business*, 13(1), 16–24.

https://eds.s.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=4&sid=456d8924-2bfe-48be-807d-82ab9f22732e%40redis

- Ali, J., Yasir, M., Adil, M., & Siddique, M. (2021). Ethical leadership and employees' trust matters in mitigating employees' burnout. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(4), 1319–1329. https://doi-org.10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.149
- Amir, E., Danziger, S., & Levi, S. (2019). Business corruption and economic prosperity. *Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 34*(4), 546–562. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X17732249
- Anderman, E. M. (2020). Achievement motivation theory: Balancing precision and utility. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 61(3), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101864
- Anderson, L. A., & Anderson, D. (2017). How command and control as a change leadership style causes transformational change efforts to fail.

 https://changeleadersnetwork.com/transformational-change-authors/
- Andrade, C. (2021). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86–88.

https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0253717620977000

- Aravena, F. (2019). Destructive leadership behavior: An exploratory study in Chile. *Leadership and policy in schools*, *18*(1), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2017.1384501
- Arnold, M. A. (1992). The principal-agent relationship in real estate brokerage services. *Journal of the American Real Estate & Urban Economics Association*, 20(1), 89–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6229.00573

- Asher-Slimak, M., Warshawski, S., & Barnoy, S. (2023). The role of motivation in the intention of nurse clinical instructors to persevere in their role: A cross-sectional study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 66. 1471–5953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103504
- Baba, M. M., Makhdoomi, U. M., & Siddiqi, M. A. (2021). Emotional intelligence and transformational leadership among academic leaders in institutions of higher learning. *Global Business Review*, 22(4), 1070–1096.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150918822421
- Băeşu, C. (2018). Leadership based on emotional intelligence in modern organizations. *USV Annals of Economics and Public Administration*, *18*(2), 73–78. https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=b6bfbe42-9281-4e1c-a572-7717839e3b26%40redis
- Baker, R. M., Baker, R., Turner, J. R., Yoon, H. J., & Kwon, K. (2019). The agency of the principal–agent relationship: An opportunity for HRD. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 21(3), 303–318. https://doi-org/10.1177/1523422319851274
- Barbuto, J. E., Jr., Gottfredson, R. K., & Searle, T. P. (2014). An examination of emotional intelligence as an antecedent of servant leadership. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21(3), 315–323. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051814531826
- Barrell, D. (2014). Everyday Ethics in Real Estate. Dearborn Real Estate Education.

- Barrett, D. (2013). *Leadership Communication: Fourth Edition*. United States: McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- Bauer, T. N., Perrot, S., Liden, R. C., & Erdogan, B. (2019). Understanding the consequences of newcomer proactive behaviors: The moderating contextual role of servant leadership. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 112(1), 356–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.05.001
- Bawany, S. (2017). The art and practice of servant leadership: Importance of empathy as an emotional & social intelligence competency for servant leaders. *Leadership Excellence Essentials 34*, (11), 34–35.

 https://eds.s.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=5&sid=733be130-f7d1-49bd-b866-f469488e8c88%40redis
- Bayram, P., & Zoubi, K. (2020). The effect of servant leadership on employees' self-reported performance: Does public service motivation play a mediating explanatory role? *Management Science Letters*, 10(8), 1771–1776. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.1.002
- Beach, L. R. (2018). Narrative thought and management. *Organizational Dynamics*, 47, (2), 63–69. https://doi:1016/j.orgdyn.2018.03.001
- Bendickson, J., Muldoon, J., Liguori, E., & Davis, P. E. (2016). Agency theory: The times, they are a-changin'. *Management Decision*, *54*(1), 174–193. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-02-2015-0058
- Besieux, T., Baillien, E., Verbeke, A. L., & Euwema, M. C. (2018). What goes around

comes around: The mediation of corporate social responsibility in the relationship between transformational leadership and employee engagement. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 39(2), 249–271.

https://doi.org/10.1177/014383IX15614914

- Bijani, M., Abedi, S., Karimi, S., & Tehranineshat, B. (2021). Major challenges and barriers in clinical decision-making as perceived by emergency medical services personnel: A qualitative content analysis. *BMC emergency medicine*, 21(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12873-021-00408-4
- Bilqees, G., Muhammad, Z., Khalid, R. M., Rezwan, U., Afraseyab, K., Heesup, H., Ariza-Montes, A., & Araya-Castillo, L. (2022). Challenges and strategies for employee retention in the hospitality industry: A review. *Sustainability*, *14*(5), 2885. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14052885
- Bingham, A. J., & Witkowsky, P. (2021). Analyzing and interpreting qualitative research: After the interview. Deductive and inductive approaches to qualitative data analysis. SAGE PUBLICATIONS. (pp. 133–146).
- Black, J., & La Venture, K. (2018). The human factor to profitability: Leveraging people centered cultures as meaningful organizations. *Public Integrity*, 20(5), 444–458. https://doi:10.1080/10999922.2017.1364949
- Boal, K. B., & Hooijberg, R. (2000). Strategic leadership research: Moving on. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 11(4), 515–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(00)00057-6

- Bohanec, M., Žnidaršič, M., Rajkovič, V., Bratko, I., & Zupan, B. (2013). DEX methodology: Three decades of qualitative multi-attribute modeling. *Informatica*, *37*(1), 49–54. https://www.informatica.si/index.php/informatica/article/viewFile/433/437
- Bonsu, S., & Twum-Danso, E. (2018). Leadership style in the global economy: A focus on cross-cultural and transformational leadership. *Journal of Marketing & Management*, 9(2), 37–52. https://gsmi-ijgb.com/wp-content/uploads/JMM-V9-N2-P04-Samuel-Bonsu-Global-Economy.pdf
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 18(3), 328–352. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238
- Brayda, W. C., & Boyce, T. D. (2014). So you really want to interview me? Navigating "sensitive" qualitative research interviewing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13(1), 318–334. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300115
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic Member Checking approach: A project Ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Brown, S., Marinan, J., & Partridge, M. A. (2020). The moderating effect of servant leadership on transformational, transactional, authentic, and charismatic leadership. *Journal of International Business Disciplines*, 15(2), 67–86.
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper and Row Publishers.

- Cain, L., Goldring, J., & Westall, A. (2022). Seeing behind the curtain: Reverse mentoring within the higher education landscape. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2022.2129963
- Cain, L., Tanford, S., & Shulga, L. (2018). Customers' perceptions of employee engagement: Fortifying the service–profit chain. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 19(1), 52–77.

 https://doi:10.1080/15256480.2017.1305312
- Campos-García, I., & Zúñiga-Vicente, J. Á. (2019). The impact of a leader's demographic and professional characteristics on employee motivation: Do they really matter? *Employee Relations*, 41(1), 119–141. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2017-0253
- Cecchi, M. A., Grant, S., Seiler, M., Turner, N., Adams, R., & Goffin, K. (2022). How COVID-19 impacted the tacit knowledge and social interaction of global NPD project teams: The complexity framework offers managers an effective way to analyze problems and to generate solutions to manage tacit knowledge and social interaction in dispersed global NPD project teams. Research-Technology Management, 65(2), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2022.2020566
- Cesario, F., & Chamble, M. J. (2017). Linking organizational commitment and work engagement to employee performance. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 24(2), 152–158. https://doi:10.1002/kpm.1542
- Chai, H. H., Gao, S. S., Chen, K. J., Duangthip, D., Lo, E. C. M., & Chu, C. H. (2021). A

concise review on Qualitative Research in dentistry. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18030942

- Chen, W.-C., Hsieh, K.-M., Lin, C.-S., Lee, C.-C., Yu, C., Lin, Y.-C., & Hong, J.-C. (2020). Relationships between sales ethics, corporate social responsibility, trust, attitude, and loyalty in the real estate brokerage industry. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 48(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8004
- Chen, Y. (2013). Effect of reverse mentoring on traditional mentoring functions. *Leadership and Management in Engineering 13*(3): 199–208. https://doi:10.1061/(ASCE)LM.1943-5630.0000227
- Cinite, I., & Duxbury, L. E. (2018). Measuring the behavioral properties of commitment and resistance to Organizational Change. *Journal of Applied Behavioral*Science, 54(2), 113–139. https://doi-org/10.1177/0021886318757997
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482–485. http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/89/5/482CT.extract
- Cluff, C. C., & Colker, J. J. (2021). The role of interpersonal exchange in transformational leadership. *Professional Safety*, 66(5), 20–21. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2522850470?pq-
 origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true

- Cohee, G. L., & Voorhies, S. (2021). The impact of self-deception on leadership effectiveness. *Journal of Biblical Integration in Business*, 24(1). https://www.cbfa-cbar.org/index.php/jbib/article/view/589
- Coleman, P. (2022). Validity and reliability within qualitative research in the caring sciences. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(3), 2041–2045. http://oro.open.ac.uk/81588/
- Connelly, L. M. (2014). Ethical considerations in research studies. *Medsurg*Nursing, 23(1), 54–56.

 https://go.gale.com/ps/anonymous?id=GALE%7CA360608990&sid=googleSchol

 ar&v=2.1&it=r&linkaccess=abs&iss
- Connors, C. D. (2020). Emotional intelligence for the modern leader: A guide to cultivating effective leadership and organizations. Rockridge Press.

Council Code of the District of Columbia. (2021).

Retrieved: https://code.dccouncil.us/dc/council/code/sections/42-1702.html

- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches.* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Crumpton, M. A. (2011). The value of transparency: The bottom line, Vol. 24 No. 2, pp. 125–128. https://doi.org/10.1108/08880451111169188
- Cui, Y. (2021). The role of emotional intelligence in workplace transparency and open communication. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 1359–1789. https://doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2021.101602

- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research: 101 perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimension of Critical Care Nursing*, *36*(4), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000000000053
- Daniels, M. (1982). The development of the concept of self-actualization in the writings of Abraham Maslow. *Current Psychological Reviews*, 2, 61–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02684455
- Davis, S. K., Nichols, R., Harms, P., & Austin, E. (2016). Does emotional intelligence have a "dark" side? A review of the literature. *Frontiers in Psychology, 1*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01316
- Dela Cruz, C. (2020). SELMA. *The International Journal of Servant-Leadership*, *14*(1), 527–553. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/selma/docview/2472669917/se-2
- De Massis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research:

 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5(1),

 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- Department of Labor. (n.d.). *Employment relationship under the fair labor standards act*. https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/13-flsa-employment-relationship
- Department of Labor. (n.d.). *Misclassification of employees as independent contractors*.

 Retrieved from: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/flsa/misclassification
- Diaz, D. C., Fernández-Fernández, J. L., & Ferrero, I. (2022). Ethical decision-making:

- From practice to theory. *Ramon Llull Journal of Applied Ethics*, *13*, 207–244. https://www.raco.cat/index.php/rljae/article/view/398702
- Dodgson, J. E. (2017). About research: Qualitative methodologies. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 33(2), 355-358. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334417698693
- Dowling, G., & Moran, P. (2012). Corporate reputations: Built in or bolted on? *California Management Review*, *54*(2), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1525/cmr.2012.54.2.25
- Dryburgh, M. (2020). Teaching servant leadership: Ansar burney and child camel jockeys. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 19(4), 116–122. https://doiorg/10.12806/V19/I4/A1
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(6), 1319–1320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- Eastman, R., & Cooper, M. (2020). *Emotional intelligence: Mastery bible*. Independently Published.
- Edi, A. C., & Wardhani, I. S. (2019). Transformational and transactional leadership understanding how leadership cultivates democratic citizenship in Panggungharjo, Bantul, Yogyakarta. *PCD Online Journal*, *6*(2), 239–269.

 https://doi:10.22146/pcd.35229
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Agency Theory: An assessment and review. *Academy of Management Review*, 14(1), 57–74. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1989.4279003

- Erickson, S. (2021). Communication in a crisis and the importance of authenticity and transparency. *Journal of Library Administration*, *61*(4), 476–483. https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2021.1906556
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., Dierendonck, D. V., & Linden, R. C. (2019). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(1),111-132. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Ferreira, A. I., Cardoso, C., & Braun, T. (2018). The mediating effects of ego-resilience in the relationship between organizational support and resistance to change. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 13(1), 104–124.

 https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/bjm-06-2017-0171/full/html
- Ferrell, O. C., Fraedrich, J., & Ferrell, L. (2021). *Business ethics: Ethical decision making and cases*. Cengage learning.
- Fianko, S. K., Jnr, S. A., & Dzogbewu, T. C. (2020). Does the interpersonal dimension of Goleman's emotional intelligence model predict effective leadership? *African Journal of Business and Economic Research*, 15(4), 221–245.

 https://doi.org/10.31920/1750-4562/2020/v15n4a1
- Fiaz, M., Qin, S., Ikram, A., & Saqib, A. (2017). Leadership styles and employees' motivation: Perspective from an emerging economy. *Journal of Developing*Areas, 51(4), 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2017.0093
- Firzly, N., Chamandy, M., Pelletier, L., & Lagacé, M. (2022). An examination of

- mentors' interpersonal behaviors and mentees' motivation, turnover intentions, engagement, and well-being. *Journal of Career Development*, 49(6), 1317–1336. https://doi:10.1177/08948453211039286
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Regnault, A. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in health outcomes research. *PloS one*, *15*(6),1–12. https://doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234898
- Forner, V. W., Jones, M., Berry, Y., & Eidenfalk, J. (2021). Motivating workers: How leaders apply self-determination theory in organizations. *Organization Management Journal*, 18(2), 76–94. https://doi.org/10.1108/OMJ-03-2020-0891
- Friedony, E., Bagholi, H., Kouroshnia, M., & Barzegar, M. (2021). The effectiveness of emotion-communication skills training on cognitive emotion regulation, parental self-efficacy, and child acceptance in mothers of children with learning disabilities. *Iranian Evolutionary and Educational Psychology Journal*, *3*(2), 105–117. http://dx.doi.org/10.52547/ieepj.3.2.105
- Frontier Nursing University Quarterly Bulletin. (2022). 97(1): 10–13. 4p.
- Fuhrmeister, C. (2020, March 13). Coronavirus: Delta making "unprecedented" cuts, Ed

 Bastien to forgo salary for 6 months. Atlanta Business Chronicle.

 https://www.bizjournals.com/atlanta/news/2020/03/13/delta-ceo-forgo-salary-coronavirus.html
- Fuioaga, C. P., & Rusu, C. (2018). Resistance of changes implementation. *FAIMA* Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting

- triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi-org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Galavotti, I. (2019). Firm-level recent profitability and acquisition performance: exploring competing theoretical perspectives. *Eurasian Business Review*, *9*(3), 319–345. https://doi-org/10.1007/s40821-018-0111-2
- Gandolfi, F., & Stone, S. (2018). Leadership, leadership styles, and servant leadership. *Journal of Management Research*, 18(4), 261–269. https://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx?target=ijor:jmr&volume=18&issue=4&article=005
- Gandolfi, F., Stone, S., & Deno, F. (2017). Servant leadership: An ancient style with 21st century relevance. *Review of International Comparative Management/Revista de Management Comparat International*, 18(4), 350–361.

 https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=662224
- Gašková, J. (2020). Servant leadership and its relation to work performance. *Central European Business Review*, 9(3), 24–37. https://doi-org/10.18267/j.cebr.236
- Gauntlett, L. E., Bickle, E., Thomas, G., Collins, B., Heaslip, V., & Eccles, S. (2017).

 Interpretative phenomenological analysis: A means of exploring aspiration and resilience amongst widening participation students. *Widening Participation &*

- Lifelong Learning, 19(2), 63-86. https://doi:10.5456/WPLL.19.2.63
- Gertsen, M. C., & Soderberg, A.-M. (2011). Intercultural collaboration stories: On narrative inquiry and analysis as tools for research in international business. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 6(42), 787–804. https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2011.15
- Goleman, D. (1996). Emotional intelligence. Why it can matter more than IQ. *Learning*, 24(6), 49–50.
- Goleman, D. (1998a). Working with emotional intelligence. Bantam.
- Goleman, D. (1998b). Working with emotional intelligence. New York: Bantam Book.
- Goleman, D. (2004). What makes a leader? *Harvard Business Review*, 82(1), 82–91. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446213704.n9
- Goleman, D. (2013). What makes a leader: Why emotional intelligence matters. More Thank Sound, LLC.
- Goleman, D., Boyatzis, R., Davidson, R. J., Druskat, V., Kohlrieser, G., Nevarez, M., Pitagorsky, G., Senge, P., Lippincott, M., Taylor, M., Gallo, A., Petry, A. F., Mette, M. B., Fernández-Aráoz, C., & McKee, A. (2017). *Building blocks of emotional intelligence: 12 leadership competency primers*. More Than Sound, LLC.
- Grady, C. (2015). Enduring and emerging challenges of informed consent. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 372(9), 855–862. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1411250

- Greenleaf, R. (1979). Servant leadership: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. *Business Horizons*, 22(3), 91–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/0007-6813(79)90092-2
- Greenleaf, R. K. (2002). Servant leadership: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. Paulist Press.
- Guerra-Báez, S. P. (2019). A panoramic review of soft skills training in university students. *Psicologia Escolor e Educacional*, 23. https://doi.org/10.31862/2218-8711-2022-3-238-245
- Guetterman, T. C., & Fetters, M. D. (2018). Two methodological approaches to the integration of mixed methods and case study designs: A systematic review. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(7), 900–918.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218772641
- Guetterman, T. C., Fetters, M. D., & Creswell, J. W. (2015). Integrating quantitative and qualitative results in health science mixed methods research through joint displays. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *13*(6), 554–561. https://doi:10.1370/afm.1865
- Guillén, M., Ferrero, I., & Hoffman, W. (2015). The neglected ethical and spiritual motivations in the workplace. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*(4), 803–816. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1985-7
- Gurieva, S., Kuznetsova, I. G., Yumkina, E., Manichev, S., & Sidorenko, E. (2017).

 Emotional intelligence and behavior styles of Russian middle managers in

- business communication. *Journal of European Research Studies*, 20(4B), 679–693. https://doi.org/10.35808/ersj/920
- Haider, A., & Mushtaq, H. (2017). Self-Efficacy as a mediator in the relationship between servant leadership and teaching effectiveness. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, 11, 167–182.
 - https://www.qurtuba.edu.pk/jms/default_files/JMS/special_edition/2%20AMOS/1
 1%20(AIC-AMOS%202017)%20167-182%20Aftab%20Haider.pdf
- Hamer, D. H., Hansoti, B., Prabhakaran, D., Huffman, M. D., Nxumalo, N., Fox, M. P.,
 Gopal, S., Oberhelman, R., Mwananyanda, L., Vwalika, B., & Rispel, L. C.
 (2019). Global health research mentoring competencies for individuals and institutions in low- and middle-income countries. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene*, 100, 15–19. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.18-0558
- Hamid, A. R. A. H., & Widjaja, F. F. (2019). Moving forward without leaving the ethical standard of publication. *Medical Journal of Indonesia*, 28(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.13181/mji.v28i1.3733
- Hamzah, A. A., & Shamsudin, M. F. (2020). Reciprocity theory: Application in marketing in increasing market share and growth toward customer satisfaction and customer loyalty. *Journal of Undergraduate Social Science and Technology*, 5(1), 1–7. http://www.abrn.asia/ojs/index.php/jpcbr/article/view/63
- Hansen, J. A., & Pihl-Thingvad, S. (2019). Managing employee innovative behavior through transformational and transactional leadership styles. *Public Management*

- Review, 21(6), 918–944. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1544272
- Harris, D. (2020). Literature review and research design: A guide to effective research practice. Routledge.
- Hastings, L. J., & Sunderman, H. M. (2020). Evidence-based practices in mentoring for leadership development. *New Directions for Student Leadership*, 2020 (168), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20410
- Heck, D. W., Thielman, I., Moshagen, M., & Hilbig, B. E. (2018). Who lies? A large-scale reanalysis linking basic personality traits to unethical decision making. *Judgment and Decision Making*, 13(4), 356–371. https://doaj.org/article/
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

 A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292, 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health**Research*, 27(4), 591–608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Heyler, S. G., & Martin, J. A. (2018). Servant leadership theory: Opportunities for additional theoretical integration. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 30(2), 230–243.
- Houda, T., Yacine, L., Seridi-Bouchelaghem, H., & Gülseçen, S. (2022). Improving soft skills based on students' traces in problem-based learning environments, *Interactive Learning Environments*, 30:10, 1879–1896. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1753215

- Hurt, K. J., & Heath, M. (2017). Antecedents and outcomes of servant leadership:

 Understanding the effects of leader motivation, character, and perceived organizational support. *International Journal of Servant-Leadership*, 11(1), 101–137. https://www.proquest.com/
- Hussey, L., & Campbell-Meier, J. (2021). Are you mentoring or coaching? Definitions matter. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, *53*(3), 510–521. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000620966651
- Hyde, J., & Grieve, R. (2018). The dark side of emotion at work: Emotional manipulation in everyday and workplace contexts. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 129, 108–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.03.025
- Ibrahim, A. E., & Samar, K. S. (2022). Learning from failure: Building resilience in small-and medium-sized tourism enterprises, the role of servant leadership and transparent communication. *Sustainability*, *14*(22), 15199.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215199
- Internal Revenue Service. (2020, December). *Independent contractor defined*.

 https://www.irs.gov/businesses/small-businesses-self-employed/independent-contractor-defined
- Issah, M. (2018). Change leadership: The role of emotional intelligence. *SAGE Open* 8(3), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018800910
- Jabeen, A., Khan, M. A., & Manzoor, M. (2020). Exploring the influence of leadership styles on professional motivation. *Gomal University Journal of Research*, 36(2),

- 84–92. https://doi.org/10.51380/gujr-36-02-08
- Jacka, J. M. (2018). How's your EQ? Emotional intelligence can help auditors build and maintain positive, productive relationships throughout the organization. *Internal Auditor*, 75(1), 36–41.
 - https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA529516679&sid=googleScholar&v=2
 .1&it=r&linkaccess=abs&issn=00205745&p=AONE&sw=w&userGroupName=a
 non%7E622aa6ff&aty=open+web+entry
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17 (42), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1718
- Jacobs, E., & Mafini, C. (2019). Transactional leadership, supply chain quality and business performance in the fast-moving consumer goods industry. *Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management*, *13*(1), 1–13.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/jtscm.v13i0.442
- Jain, A. (2018). Holistic view of emotional intelligence in the workplace: View on utilization & benefits. *Journal of Services Research*, *18*(2), 153–164. https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/
- Jensen, M., & Meckling, W. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics* 3(4): 305–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of

- rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Kammerhoff, J., Lauenstein, O., & Schütz, A. (2019). Leading toward harmony –

 Different types of conflict mediate how followers' perceptions of transformational leadership are related to job satisfaction and performance. *European Management Journal*, 37(2), 210–221. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.06.003
- Kanat-Maymon, Y., Elimelech, M., & Roth, G. (2020). Work motivations as antecedents and outcomes of leadership: Integrating self-determination theory and the full range leadership theory. *European Management Journal*, *38*(4), 555–564. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.01.003
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, *13*(1), 19–31. https://doi-org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Kekeya, J. (2021). Qualitative case study research design: The commonalities and differences between collective, intrinsic, and instrumental case studies. *Contemporary PNG Studies*, 36, 28–37.
 https://search.informit.org/doi/abs/10.3316/informit.356219476950585
- Kharis, I. (2015). The effect of transformational leadership style on employee performance with work motivation as an intervening variable. *Journal of Business Administration*, 3(2), 290–301. https://doi:10.31933/dijdbm.v1i2.159
- Kravets, A. (2019). Ethical regulations of medical research involving human subjects:

- Exploring the perspective of trial participants. *The Journal for Undergraduate Ethnography*, 9(1), 34–49. https://doi.org/10.15273/jue.v9i1.8883
- Krén, H., & Séllei, B. (2021). The role of emotional intelligence in organizational performance. Periodica Polytechnica: *Social & Management Sciences*, 29(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3311/PPso.15879
- Kress, J. C., & Turk, M. C. (2020). Too many to fail: Against community bank deregulation. *Northwestern University Law Review*, 115(3), 647–716. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3503692
- Krumrei-Mancuso, E. J., & Rowatt, W. C. (2023). Humility in novice leaders: Links to servant leadership and followers' satisfaction with leadership. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, *18*(1), pp. 154–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2021.1952647
- Kuenzi, M., Mayer, D. M., & Greenbaum, R. L. (2020). Creating an ethical organizational environment: The relationship between ethical leadership, ethical organizational climate, and unethical behavior. *Personnel Psychology*, 73(1), 43–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12356
- Kundi, Y. M., & Badar, K. (2021). Interpersonal conflict and counterproductive work behavior: The moderating roles of emotional intelligence and gender. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 32(3), pp. 514–534. https://doi.org/10.26686/wgtn.14167130
- Kundi, Y. M., Badar, K., Sarfraz, M., & Ashraf, N. (2023). Interpersonal conflict as a barrier to task performance: The mediating role of workplace deviance and the

- moderating role of emotional intelligence. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 34(1), pp. 104–124. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCMA-05-2022-0093
- Lee, C., Li, Y., Yeh, W., & Yu, Z. (2022). The effects of leader emotional intelligence, leadership styles, organizational commitment, and trust on job performance in the real estate brokerage industry. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*(4), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.881725
- Lee, C. C. (2012). Extended service quality model: Causes of agency problems and ethical sales behavior. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 40(8), 1381–1400. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2012.40.8.1381
- Lee, Y. H. (2019). Emotional intelligence, servant leadership, and development goal orientation in athletic directors. *Sport Management Review (Elsevier Science)*, 22(3), 395–406. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.smr.2018.05.003
- Lemos, V. A. F., & Brunstein, J. (2023). Fostering soft skills leadership through a critical reflection approach. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 55(1), 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-01-2022-0001
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

 **Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324–327.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, *14*(1), 24–37. http://americanscholarspress.us/journals/IMR/pdf/IMR-1-2018/IMR-v1-n1-2018-

4-19.pdf#page=28

- Lopes, H. (2016). Agency theory and social interactions at work. *Review of Social Economy*, 74(4), 349–368. https://doi.org/10.1080/00346764.2016.1171381
- Lopez-Vega, H., & Moodysson, J. (2023). Digital transformation of the automotive industry: An integrating framework to analyze technological novelty and breadth. *Industry & Innovation*, 30(1), 67–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2022.2151873
- Lumpkin, A., & Achen, R. M. (2018). Explicating the synergies of self-determination theory, ethical leadership, servant leadership, and emotional intelligence. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 12(1), 6–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/jls.21554
- Maamari, B. E., & Majdalani, J. F. (2017). Emotional intelligence, leadership style and organizational climate. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 25(2), 327–345. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-04-2016-1010
- Mackieson, P., Shlonsky, A., & Connolly, M. (2019). Increasing rigor and reducing bias in qualitative research: A document analysis of parliamentary debates using applied thematic analysis. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(6), 965–980.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1473325018786996
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*17(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362

- Mäkikangas, A. (2018). Job crafting profiles and work engagement: A person-centered approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *106*, 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.01.001
- Malik, A. A., Muneeb, D., Khan, N., Usman, M., & Latif, K. F. (2022). The nexus of servant leadership and project success: The mediation of emotional intelligence and job stress and moderation of team effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 43(8), 1186–1200. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2021-0339
- Margheritti, S., Gragnano, A., Villa, R., Invernizzi, M., Ghetti, M., & Miglioretti, M. (2023). Being an emotional business leader in the time of the COVID-19

 Pandemic: The importance of emotions during a crisis. *Sustainability*, *15*(4), 3392. https://doaj.org/article/18596a1ee246467ebdd6f9a8fc6c5c62
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research*. Sage publications.
- Martela, F., & Pessi, A. B. (2018). Significant work is about self-realization and broader purpose: Defining the key dimensions of meaningful work. *Frontiers in Psychology* 9, 363–373. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00363
- Maslow, A. (1954). *Motivation and personality* (1st ed.). Harper & Row.

 https://holybooks-lichtenbergpress.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/Motivation-and-Personality-Maslow.pdf
- Mayer, J. D., & Salovey, P. (1997). What is emotional intelligence: Emotional

- development and emotional intelligence. Educational Implications. New York Basics.
- Mayfield, J., & Mayfield, M. (2017). Leadership communication: Reflecting, engaging, and innovating. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *54*(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416675446
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McLaughlin, E., & Craig, S. L. (2019). Linking emotional intelligence and entrepreneurship: A conceptualization. *Global Education Journal*, 2019(2), 2–21.
- McMahone, M. (2012). Servant leadership as a teachable ethical concept. *American Journal of Business Education*, *5*(3), 339–346. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1056207.pdf
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Miao, C., Humphrey, R. H., & Qian, S. (2021). Emotional intelligence and servant leadership: A meta-analytic review. *Business Ethics, the Environment & Responsibility, 30*(2), 231–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/beer.12332
- Miao, C. R., Humphrey, H., & Qian, S. (2018). A cross-cultural meta-analysis of how leader emotional intelligence influences subordinate task performance and organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of World Business*, 53(4), 463–474.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2018.01.003

Mills, J., Harrison, H., Franklin, R., & Birks, M. (2017). Case study research:

Foundations and methodological orientations. *Qualitative Merriam Social Research*, 18(1), 1–17.

doaj.org/article/2959900b435b4c988812267188f7b1f8

- Mohd, L. (2019). Digital technology and the real estate industry. *Sinergi: Journal Ilmiah Ilmu Manajemen*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.25139/sng.v9i2.1811
- Moon, J. (2021). Effect of emotional intelligence and leadership styles on risk intelligent decision making and risk management. *Journal of Engineering, Project & Production Management*, 11(1), 71–81. https://doi.org/10.2478/jeppm-2021-0008
- Moore, C., Mayer, D. M., Chiang, F. F. T., Crossley, C., Karlesky, M. J., & Birtch, T. A. (2019). Leaders matter morally: The role of ethical leadership in shaping employee moral cognition and misconduct. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(1), 123–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000341
- Morse, J. M. (2000). Determining sample size. *Qual Health Res.* 10(1)3–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195315493.001.0001
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mullen, C. A., & Klimaitis, C. C. (2021). Defining mentoring: A literature review of issues, types, and applications. *Annals of the New York Academy of*

- Sciences, 1483(1), 19-35. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14176
- Mullen, P. R., Limberg, D., Tuazon, V., & Romagnolo, S. M. (2019). Emotional intelligence and leadership attributes of school counselor trainees. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, 58(2), 112–126. https://doi-org/10.1002/ceas.12135
- Müller, F., & Cañal-Bruland, R. (2020). Motivation in the wild: A critical review of the relationship between motives and motor performance. *Motivation Science*, 6(2), 93–109. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000141
- Murari, K., & Mukherjee, U. (2021). Role of authentic transformational leadership for managerial excellence and sustainability. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(4), 2592–2605. https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.297
- National Association of Realtors. (n.d.). *Code of ethics & standards of practice*. https://www.nar.realtor

National Association of Realtors. (n.d.). Membership benefits-education.

 $\underline{https://www.nar.realtor/membership}$

- Neubert, M. J., Hunter, E. M., & Tolentino, R. C. (2022). Modeling character: Servant leaders, incivility and patient outcomes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *178*(1), 261–278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04783-7
- Newman, S. A., Ford, R. C., & Marshall, G. W. (2020). Virtual team leader communication: Employee perception and organizational reality. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *57*(4), 452–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488419829895

- Ngene, G. M., Kabir Hassan, M., Hippier, I. J., & Julio, I. (2016). Determinants of mortgage default rates: Pre-crisis and crisis period dynamics and stability. *Journal* of Housing Research, 25(1), 39–64. https://doi.org/10.1080/10835547.2016.12092112
- Ngoc Khuong, M., & Thanh Tung, D. (2023). The role of leadership and organizational learning in fostering high performance of tourism firms in Vietnam. *Cogent Business & Management*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2022.2164139
- Nguyen, N. P., Wu, H., Evangelista, F., & Nguyen, T. N. Q. (2020). The effects of organizational mindfulness on ethical behavior and firm performance: Empirical evidence from Vietnam. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 26(3), 313–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381.2020.1727649
- Nielsen, P. A., Boye, S., Holten, A., Jacobsen, C. B., & Andersen, L. B. (2019). Are transformational and transactional types of leadership compatible? A two-wave study of employee motivation. *Public Administration*, *97*(2), 413–428. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12574
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evid Based Nurs*, 18(2), 34-35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Northouse, P. G. (2021). Leadership: Theory and practice. Sage.
- Nyuur, R. B., Ofori, D. F., & Amponsah, M. M. (2019). Corporate social responsibility and competitive advantage: A developing country perspective. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 61(4), 551–564. https://doi-org/10.1002/tie.22065

- Oliver, T. (2020). The importance of subordinate emotional intelligence development in the workplace. *International Trade Journal*, *34*(1), 162–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853908.2019.1651680
- O'Reilly, K., & Marx, S. (2011). How young, technical consumers assess online WOM credibility. Qualitative market research: *An International Journal*, *14*(4), 330–359. https://doi:10.1108/13522751111163191
- Ouakouak, M. L., Zaitouni, M. G., & Arya, B. (2020). Ethical leadership, emotional leadership, and quitting intentions in public organizations: Does employee motivation play a role? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(2), 257–279. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-05-2019-0206
- Paesbrugghe, B., Rangarajan, D., Hochstein, B., & Sharma, A. (2020). Evaluation of salespeople by the purchasing function: Implications for the evolving role of salespeople. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 40(4), 289–305. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2020.1813590
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Panait, C., & Bucinschi, V. (2018). Emotional intelligence influence in leadership. *Scientific Research & Education in the Air Force AFASES*, 6, 493–

- 498. https://doi.org/10.19062/2247-3173.2018.20.67
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parris, D., & Peachey, J. (2013). A systematic literature review of servant leadership theory in organizational contexts. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 113(3), 377–393. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1322-6
- Patron, H. E., & Roskelley, K. D. (2008). The effect of reputation and competition on the advice of real estate agents. *The journal of real estate finance and economics*, 37(4), 387–399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11146-007-9082-2
- Paulus, T., Woods, M., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2017). The discourse of QDAS:

 Reporting practices of ATLAS.ti and NVivo users with implications for best practices. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1102454
- Piazolo, D., & Förster, G. (2019). Integrity as performance-increasing factor within the real estate industry. *Property Management*, *37*(1), 38–51. https://doi.org/10.1108/PM-02-2018-0015
- Prada-Ramallal, G., Takkouche, B., & Figueiras, A. (2017). Diverging conclusions from the same meta-analysis in drug safety: Source of data (primary versus secondary) takes a toll: *An International Journal of Medical Toxicology and Drug experience*. *Drug Safety*, 40(4), 351–358. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40264-016-

0492-z

- Priyadharshini, S. A., & Sudhahar, J. C. (2019). Determinants of employee loyalty-A literature review. *International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 6(11), 372–375. https://doi.org/10.1362/147539218x15333820725128
- Rabinovich, E., & Cheon, S. (2011). Expanding horizons and deepening understanding via the use of secondary data sources. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 32(4), 303–316. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0000-0000.2011.01026.x
- Rabiul, M. K., & Yean, T. F. (2021). Leadership styles, motivating language, and work engagement: An empirical investigation of the hotel industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 92, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102712
- Randall, P. M., Saurage-Altenloh, S., & Osei, E. T. (2020). *The relationship between leadership ethics and organizational success: A global perspective*. Examining Ethics and Intercultural Interactions in International Relations (pp. 106–137). IGI Global.
- Rauf, F. H. A., Khalid, F. M., Abdullah, A. S., & Baharudin, M. H. (2020). Self-Esteem, mental health and emotional intelligence in a Malaysian private higher learning institution. *Global Business & Management Research*, 12(4). http://www.gbmrjournal.com/pdf/v12n4/V12N4-50.pdf
- Reed, L. L., Vidaver-Cohen, D., & Colwell, S. (2011). A new scale to measure executive servant leadership: Development, analysis, and implications for research. *Journal*

- of Business Ethics, 101(3), 415–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-010-0729-1
- Regmi, P. R., Aryal, N., Kurmi, O., Pant, P. R., Van Teijlingen, E., & Wasti, S. P. (2017).

 Informed consent in health research: Challenges and barriers in low-and middle-income countries with specific reference to Nepal. *Developing World Bioethics*,

 17(2), 84–89. https://doi:10.1111/dewb.12123
- Rivera-Koltko, M. E. (2006). Rediscovering the later version of Maslow's hierarchy of needs: Self-transcendence and opportunities for theory, research, and unification.

 *Review of General Psychology, 10(4), 302–317. https://doi-org/10.1037/1089-2680.10.4.302
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(9), 3185–3203. https://doiorg/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4640
- Ruiz-Palomino, P., & Zoghbi-Manrique-de-Lara, P. (2020). How and when servant leaders fuel creativity: The role of servant attitude and intrinsic motivation. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 89. https://doiorg/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102537
- Russell, R. F., & Stone, A. G. (2002). A review of servant leadership attributes:

 Developing a practical model. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*,

 23(3), 145–157. https://doi-org/10.1108/01437730210424
- Saeed, M., & Mughal, Y. H. (2019). Role of transactional leadership style upon performance: Mediating role of culture. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, 13(1),

- 47–57. https://qurtuba.edu.pk/jms/default_files/JMS/13_1/05.pdf
- Saleem, F., Zhang, Y., Gopinath, C., & Adeel, A. (2020). Impact of servant leadership on performance: The mediating role of affective and cognitive trust. *SAGE Open*, 10(1), 1–16. https://doi-org./10.1177/2158244019900562
- Salovey, P., & Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional Intelligence. *Sage Journals*, 9(3), 185–211. https://doi.org/10.2190/DUGG-P24E-52WK-6CDG
- Saranya, C. S. C., & Guduru, R. (2022). Building students' personality for employment readiness through soft-skills training. *Randwick International of Social Science Journal*, *3*(1), 32–45. https://doi.org/10.47175/rissj.v3i1.367
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). Research methods for business students (7th ed.). Pearson Education Unlimited.
- Sayyadi, M. (2019). How effective leadership of knowledge management impacts organizational performance. *Business Information Review*, *36*(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266382119829643
- Scharp, K. M., & Sanders, M. L. (2019). What is a theme? Teaching thematic analysis in qualitative communication research method. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Sendjaya, S. (2015). Personal and organizational excellence through servant leadership learning to serve, serving to lead, leading to transform. Springer.
- Shank, C. A. (2018). Deconstructing the corporate psychopath: An examination of deceptive behavior. *Review of Behavioral Finance*, 10(2), 163–182.

https://doi.org/10.1108/RBF-03-2017-0028

- Sherman, W. (2017). Framing unschooling using theories of motivation. *Journal of Unschooling & Alternative Learning*, 10(22), 76–99. https://doaj.org/article/d7551eb934774e508f3dad77b4149f1c
- Shi, L., & Tapia, C. (2016). The disciplining effect of concern for referrals: Evidence from real estate agents. *Real Estate Economics*, 44(2), 411–461. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6229.12102
- Shoen, E. (2017). The 2007-2009 Financial crisis: An erosion of ethics: A case study. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *146*(4), 805–830. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3052-7
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 619–634.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Simha, A., & Parboteeah, K. P. (2020). The Big 5 personality traits and willingness to justify unethical behavior: A cross-national examination. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(3), 451–471. https://doi-org/10.1007/s10551-019-04142-7
- Sims, C., Carter, A., & Moore De Peralta, A. (2021). Do servant, transformational, transactional, and passive avoidant leadership styles influence mentoring competencies for faculty? A study of a gender equity leadership development program. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 32(1), 55–75.

https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21408

- Sitthiwarongchai, C., Wichayanuparp, W., Chantakit, P., & Charoenboon, P. (2020).

 Impact of organization's leadership style on motivation of its

 employees. *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 11(3), 48–56. https://doi-org/10.5530/srp.2020.3.06
- Sivarajah, U., Kamal, M. M., Irani, Z., & Weerakkody, V. (2017). Critical analysis of big data challenges and analytical methods. *Journal of Business Research*, 70, 263–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.001
- Sivasubramanian, S., Dlabolová, D. H., Kralikova, V., & Khan, Z. R. (2021). Assisting you to advance with ethics in research: An introduction to ethical governance and application procedures. *International Journal for Educational Integrity*, *17*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40979-021-00078-6
- Smith, J., & Dubbink, W. (2011). Understanding the role of moral principles in business ethics: A Kantian perspective. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 21(2), 205–231. https://doi:10.5840/beq201121214
- Smith, M. (2020). Effective leadership in online small businesses: An exploratory case study. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Knowledge*, 8(2), 27–41. https://doi-org/10.37335/ijek.v8i2.117
- Solomon, R. C., & Hanson, K. R. (1983). Above the bottom line: An introduction to business ethics. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- Solomon, S. J., Bendickson, J. S., Marvel, M. R., McDowell, W. C., & Mahto, R. (2021).

- Agency theory and entrepreneurship: A cross-country analysis. *Journal of Business Research*, 122, 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.09.003
- Sondaite, J., & Keidonaite, G. (2020). Experience of transformative leadership:

 Subordinate's perspective. *Business: Theory & Practice*, 21(1), 373–378.

 https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.11113
- Song, J. (2018). Leading through awareness and healing: A servant-leadership model. *International Journal of Servant-Leadership*, 12(1), 245–284. https://eds.p.ebscohost.com/
- Spears, L. (1996). "Reflections on Robert K. Greenleaf and servant-leadership". *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 17(7), 33–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437739610148367
- Starr, C. W., Saginor, J., & Worzala, E. (2021). The rise of PropTech: Emerging industrial technologies and their impact on real estate. *Journal of Property Investment & Finance*, 39(2), 157–169. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPIF-08-2020-0090
- Stewart, T. (2012). Classroom teacher leadership: Service-learning for teacher sense of efficacy and servant leadership development. *School Leadership & Management*, 32(3), 233-259. https://doi-org/10.1080/13632434.2012.688741
- Sun, P., & Shang, S. (2019). Personality traits and personal values of servant leaders.

 **Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 40(2), 177–192.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-11-2018-0406

- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative**Research Journal (RMIT Training Pty Ltd Trading as RMIT Publishing), 11(2),
 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Suryanti, N., Baskara, A., Suyono, A., & Fitriani, A. (2023). Mentoring relationship and mentoring model of micro, small, medium enterprises (MSMEs) in Indonesia. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching & Mentoring*, 21(1), 197–210. https://doi.org/10.24384/x7ad-yr90
- Tamblyn, R., Girard, N., Qian, C. J., & Hanley, J. (2018). Assessment of potential bias in research grant peer review in Canada. *Cmaj*, *190*(16), E489-E499.

 https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170901
- Tan, T. L. K., Voon, L. M., & Ngui, S. K. (2022). Emotional intelligence and leadership effectiveness: A critical review for future research. *Global Business & Management Research*, *14*, (3), 536–551. https://search.ebscohost.com/
- Tanno, J. P., & Banner, D. K. (2018). Servant leaders as change agents. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 1–18. https://doi-org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.01
- Taylor, E., & Hignett, S. (2014). Evaluating evidence: Defining levels and quality using critical appraisal mixed methods tools. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal (HERD)*, 7(3), 144–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/193758671400700310
- Taylor, T., Martin, B. N., Hutchinson, S., & Jinks, M. (2007). Examination of leadership practices of principles identified as servant leaders. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 10(4), 401–419.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13603120701408262

- Terblanche, N. H. D., & Heyns, M. (2020). The impact of coachee personality traits, propensity to trust and perceived trustworthiness of a coach, on a coachee's trust behavior in a coaching relationship. *SAJIP: South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 46(0), 1–11. https://doi-org/10.4102/sajip.v46i0.1707
- Thakor, A. V. (2015). The financial crisis of 2007-2009: Why did It happen and what did we learn? *Review of Corporate Finance Studies*, 4(2), 155–205. https://doi.org/10.1093/rcfs/cfv001
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*. 7(3), 155–163. https://doi:10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Theophilus, A. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), 383–400.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-18-00035
- Thiem, A. (2016). Standards of good practice and the methodology of necessary conditions in qualitative comparative analysis. *Advance Access Publication*, 24(4), 478–484. https://doi:10.1093/pan/mpw024
- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

 Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174
- Tomic, I., Tesic, Z., Kuzmanovic, B., & Tomic, M. (2018). An empirical study of

- employee loyalty, service quality, cost reduction and company performance. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istrazivanja*, *31*(1), 827–846. https://doi-org/10.1080/1331677X.2018.1456346
- Tripathy, M. (2019). The power of ethics: Rethinking leadership roles at workplaces. *Multidisciplinary Journal for Education, Social and Technological Sciences*, 6(2), 134–146. https://doi.org/10.4995/muse.2019.11594
- United States. National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical & Behavioral Research. (1978). The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research (Vol. 1).
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (2018). Federal employee viewpoint survey.

 https://www.opm.gov/fevs/reports/governmentwide-reports/governmentwide-management-report/governmentwide-report/2018/2018-governmentwide-management-report.pdf
- van de Bunt-Kokhuis, S., & Sultan, N. (2012). Servant-leadership: The online way elearning where community building is key. *European Journal of Open, Distance* and E-learning, 1–10. https://eric.ed.gov/
- van Dierendonck, D. (2011). Servant leadership: A review and synthesis. *Journal of Management*, 37(4), 1228–1261. https://journals.sagepub.com/
- Varela, J. A., Bande, B., Del Rio, M., & Jaramillo, F. (2019). Servant leadership, proactive work behavior, and performance overall rating: Testing a multilevel model of moderated mediation. *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing*, 26(2),

177–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/1051712X.2019.1603417

- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vidic, Z., Burton, D., South, G., Pickering, A. M., & Start, A. (2016). Emotional and motivational correlates of leadership styles: A comprehensive framework for understanding effective leaders. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, *10*(3), 22–40. https://doi-org/10.1002/jls.21485
- Virginia Misclassification of workers, Stat. §381. (2018). https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP0381
- Wachter, S., & Keys, B. (Host). (2018-present). *The real causes-and casualties-of the housing crisis* [Audio podcast].
- https://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/housing-bubble-real-causes
- Wargo, W. G. (2015). *Identifying assumptions and limitations for your dissertation*.

 Academic Information Center.
- Watson, M., Kuofie, M., & Dool, R. (2018). Relationship between spiritually intelligent leadership and employee engagement. *Journal of Marketing & Management*, 9(2), 1–24.
 - https://eds.s.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=3&sid=93420a2d-f104-4636-8b53-fbdd32ce20b6%40redis

- Webb, A. S., & Welsh, A. J. (2019). Phenomenology as a methodology for scholarship of teaching and learning research. *Teaching & Learning Inquiry*, 7(1), 168–181. https://doi.org/10.20343/teachlearningu.7.1.11
- Widanti, N. P. T., & Sumrahadi, A. (2020). Leadership, organizational culture, empowerment, and human relational and values as antecedents of profitability of the firm. *Journal of Security & Sustainability Issues*, 10(2), 749–762. https://doiorg/10.9770/jssi.2020.10.2(30)
- Widyaningsih, M., & Arfiansyah, M. A. (2020). The effect of leadership style and work motivation on the performance of academic staff. *Journal of Business and Management Review*, 1(3), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.47153/jbmr13.292020
- Wiseman, N., Rossmann, C., & Harris, N. (2019). A systematic review of data collection techniques used to measure preschool children's knowledge of and preference for physical activity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(6), 1-15. https://doi:10.3390/ijerph16060964
- Wong, L. P. (2008). Data analysis in qualitative research: A brief guide to using NVivo. *Malaysian Family Physician*, *3*(1), 14–20. https://doaj.org/article/3f1ec0825674400e91b0a08096521b6b
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Designs and methods* (5th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications. Zachary, L. J., & Fain, L. Z. (2022). The Mentor's Guide: Facilitating effective learning

- relationships. John Wiley & Sons.
- Zada, M., Zada, S., Ali, M., Jun, Z. Y., Contreras-Barraza, N., & Castillo, D. (2022).
 How classy servant leader at workplace? Linking servant leadership and task performance during the COVID-19 crisis: A moderation and mediation approach. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1–13.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.810227
- Zainab, S. S., Ahmad, U. N. U., & Sheeraz, M. I. (2022). Impact of servant leadership on employee work engagement: Mediating role of psychological climate. *FWU Journal of Social Sciences*, *16*(3), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.51709/19951272/
- Zappe, S. E., Yoder, J., & Hylton, J. B. (2018). Assessing curiosity in the engineering entrepreneurship context: Challenges and future research areas. Advances in engineering education: *A Journal of Engineering Education Application*, 7(1), 12–10. https://advances.asee.org/assessing-curiosity-in-theengineering-entrepreneurship-context-challenges-and-future-research-areas/
- Zhang, Q., & Liu, Y. (2019). Employees' environmental protection and charitable donation and ethical leadership: An empirical study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(13), 1–19.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16132282
- Zhao, W., Mok, I. A. C., & Cao, Y. (2019). Factors influencing teachers' implementation of a reformed instructional model in China from the theory of planned behavior perspective: A multiple case study. *Sustainability*, *12*(1), 1.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su12010001

- Zhao, Y., & Xie, B. (2020). Social effects of engaged leaders on subordinates' experiences in the workplace. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 48(9), 1–11. https://doi-org/10.2224/sbp.9244
- Zysberg, L., & Raz, S. (2019). Emotional intelligence and emotion regulation in self-induced emotional states: Physiological evidence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 139, 202–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.11.027

Appendix A: Email Invitation

Subject: Invitation to participate in a research project on the leadership strategies modeled by real estate brokers to positively influence their real estate agents.

(date)

Hello,

My name is Lakecia A. Reddrick and I am a doctoral candidate in the College of Management and Human Potential department) at Walden University. I am working on a research project under the supervision of Dr. Olivia Herriford.

I am writing to you today to invite you to participate in a study entitled "Leadership Strategies for Modeling Ethical Behavior in the Real Estate Industry". This study aims to identify the strategies real estate brokers use to model the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability. The qualifying nine participants will be licensed real estate broker with 5 years minimum of successfully managing real estate agents.

This study involves one video-conferencing 30-45 minute interview that will take place via videoconferencing using either Zoom or Microsoft Teams. With your consent, interviews will be video-recorded. Once the recording has been transcribed and verified, the (audio/video) recording will be destroyed.

This will be done by keeping all responses (anonymous/anonymized) and allowing you to request that certain responses not be included in the final project.

You will have the right to end your participation in the study at any time, for any reason, up until (insert date or time after the interview). If you choose to withdraw, all the information you have provided will be destroyed.

There will be no compensation given to any participants to protect the integrity of the research.

All research data, including video-recordings and any notes, etc. will be encrypted/password-protected. Any hard copies of data including (any handwritten notes or USB keys, etc.) will be kept in a locked cabinet at my private resident. Research data will only be accessible by the researcher.

This research has been cleared by Walden University Research Ethics Board.

Should you have any ethical concerns with the study, please contact the REB Chair, Walden University Research Ethics Board-A (by phone: ext. or by email). For all other questions about the study, please contact the researcher.

If you would like to participate in this research project, or have any questions about the research, please contact me at (phone number) or (Walden University email

address).

Sincerely,

Lakecia A. Reddrick

Appendix B: Consent Form

TITLE OF THE STUDY

Leadership Strategies for Modeling Ethical Behavior in the Real Estate Industry

RESEARCHER INFORMATION



PURPOSE OF STUDY

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore the strategies real estate brokers use to model the ethical behavior and decision-making their real estate agents must practice to positively influence performance and profitability. The targeted population is leaders of three real estate brokerage firms in the D.C. Metropolitan area, which consists of Maryland, D.C., and Virginia, who have led teams of successful, reputable real estate agents for at least 5 years.

STUDY PROCEDURES

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- Participate in a 30-45-minute interview, answering a short series of open-ended questions.
- Participate in a 30 minute follow up discussion to verify the researcher's interpretation of your interview responses.

Sample questions:

- 1. What are some examples of the strategies you use to model ethical behavior for your real estate agents?
- 2. What, if anything, have you changed in how you model ethical behavior and decision making to positively influence your real estate agents' performance?

RISKS

Minimal risk. You may decline to answer any or all questions. At any time during the interview, you may terminate your involvement if there are any feelings of discomfort.

BENEFITS

The benefit of this study may help real estate brokers within the real estate industry understand the importance of modeling ethical behavior that will positively influence their agents thereby enhancing service quality.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Your responses in the interview will be confidential. There will be no identifying information presented in the findings of the study. All information will be coded for the purpose of confidentiality. Your personal information will never be shared or used for anything other than the intended purpose of this study. Every effort will be made by the researcher to preserve your confidentiality including the following:

- Assigning code name/letter and number combination for participants and their organizations that will be used in all research journaling and documents
- Keeping notes, interview transcriptions, and any other identifying participant information on a USB drive in a locked file cabinet in the personal possession of the researcher.
- 5 years after completion of the study, materials will be discarded and deleted.

COMPENSATION

There will be no payments or gifts for participating in the study.

CONTACT INFORMATION

If you have questions at any time about this study, you may contact the researcher whose contact information is provided on the first page. If you have questions regarding your rights as a research participant, or if problems arise which you do not feel you can discuss with the Primary Investigator, please contact the Institutional Review Board at (800) 925-3368 ext. 312-1210.

VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason and without cost. If you decide to take part in this study, please reply to this email; 'I consent.' Withdrawing from this study will not affect the relationship you have, if any, with the researcher. If you withdraw from the study before data collection is completed, your data will be returned to you or destroyed.

CONSENT

I have read and understand the provided information within this document, and I have had the opportunity to ask questions. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving a reason and without cost. I voluntarily agree to take part in this study.

Please keep a copy of this document for your records.

Researcher's Printed Name	Signature	Date
Lakecia A. Reddrick	Lakecia A. Reddrick	

Participant's Printed Name	Signature	Date

Appendix C: Interview Protocol

Leadership Strategies for Modeling Ethical Behavior in the Real Estate Industry			
Date, tim	e, and location of the interview		
Interviewee/Participant ID			
Step 1	Introduction	Introduce myself and thank the participant for taking part in the study.	
Step 2	Purpose	Identify the leadership strategies used by real estate brokers to model ethical behavior for their agents to positively increase service quality performance and profitability.	
Step 3	Description of why the interviewee is participating	Explain the participant is selected based on their qualifications and experience with being a real estate broker that successfully increased their organization's performance and profitability by modeling ethical behavior for their agents. The information they provide will be beneficial in answering the research question and partially fulfilling my Doctor of Business Administration degree requirements.	
Step 4	Description of the benefit of participation	Explain that participant's findings will provide the real estate industry leaders the strategies to improve their performance (i.e., service quality) and profitability.	
Step 5	Ethics	Ethical standards will be maintained before, during, and after the interview.	
Step 6	Confidentiality	Inform participants that all information will be recorded and stored without	

		identifying material to ensure
		confidentiality.
		All electronic copies will be password
		protected on my personal device. Hard
		copies will remain in a locked filing
		cabinet in my home office for 5 years
		after the approval of the study.
		1 * *
		I will destroy all data 5 years after
G . 7	D	approval of the study.
Step 7	Participant questions	Do you have any questions or concerns
		regarding this study or the interview
		process we have just discussed?
Step 8	Interview transition	Identify the transition into the interview
		questions using a semi-structured
		approach.
Step 9	Conduct the interview while	1. What are some examples of the
	taking note of body language and	strategies you use to model ethical
	verbal cues. Ask probing and	behavior for your real estate agents?
	additional questions as necessary	
	throughout the open discussion.	2. What, if anything, have you changed
		in how you model ethical behavior and
		decision making to positively influence
		your real estate agents' performance?
		your rour estate agents performance.
		3. How have you demonstrated ethical
		decision-making in your interactions
		with your real estate agents?
		with your rear estate agents:
		4. What are some examples of how your
		demonstration of ethical decision
		making in your interactions with your
		agents has influenced their actions?
		F. How if et all have decreed in
		5. How, if at all, have changes in
		industry reputation influenced the
		leadership strategies you have used and,
		based upon your observations, the
		corresponding agents' performance?
		6. Based upon your experiences, and
		organization's performance, how have

Research	er Name	Date
Please typ	be either "I consent or No consent"	Date
Step 10	Closing	Thank the participant for their time and ask if follow-up discussions, or questions are acceptable.
		7. What additional information can you share about your strategies for modeling ethical behavior and decision making to influence the ethical behavior and decision making of your agents that we have not discussed during this interview?
		the strategies you applied for modeling ethical behavior helped to increase profitability?

Appendix D: Interview Questions

- 1. What are some examples of the strategies you use to model ethical behavior for your real estate agents?
- 2. What, if anything, have you changed in how you model ethical behavior and decision making to positively influence your real estate agents' performance?
- 3. How have you demonstrated ethical decision-making in your interactions with your real estate agents?
- 4. What are some examples of how your demonstration of ethical decision making in your interactions with your agents has influenced their actions?
- 5. How, if at all, have changes in industry reputation influenced the leadership strategies you have used and, based upon your observations, the corresponding agents' performance?
- 6. Based upon your experiences, and organization's performance, how have the strategies you applied for modeling ethical behavior helped to increase profitability?
- 7. What additional information can you share about your strategies for modeling ethical behavior and decision making to influence the ethical behavior and decision making of your agents that we have not discussed during this interview?